
CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
CITY HALL 

350 N MARKET BLVD | CHEHALIS, WA   98532 

Anthony E. Ketchum, Sr., District 3 
Mayor 

John Six, District 1 
Daryl J. Lund, Mayor Pro Tem, District 2 
Jody Kyes, District 4        

Kate McDougall, Position at Large No. 1 
Kevin Carns, Position at Large No. 2 

Robert J. Spahr, Position at Large No. 3 

Regular Meeting of Monday, February 26, 2024 
5:00 p.m. 

To access this meeting via Zoom: 
Meeting ID: 834 4212 6653 

Pass Code: 674890 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS 

4. Lewis County Transit Update (Joe Clark, Executive Director)

 CONSENT CALENDAR ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

5. Minutes of the Special Meeting January 18, 2024 (City Clerk)

6. Minutes of the Regular Meeting February 12, 2024 (City Clerk)

7. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $420,094.41 (Finance
Director) 

8. Resolution 02-2024, Interlocal Agreement with Thurston County for Purchase of
Anti-Ice Material (Street Superintendent)

9. On-Call Engineering Services Contract Award for Airport Projects (Airport Director)

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

1 

3 

7 

9 

19 

 PUBLIC HEARINGS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

None 

CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT) 

Individuals wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit comments by 4:00 
pm on the day of the meeting. All comments received will be acknowledged by the Mayor under Citizens Business of 
this meeting agenda.  Please use the following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  
If you do not have computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Kassi 
Mackie at 360-345-1042 or at kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Public comments will be limited to five (5) minutes per 
person. 

https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us


   UNFINISHED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

None 

 NEW BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

10. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1090-B, Year End Fund Balance Commitment
(Finance Director)

11. Proposal for Drug Court (City Attorney)

12. Consideration of the Fifth Amendment to Agreement with CCA Retail, LLC (Twin
City Town Center) (Airport Director)

13. Award Contract for Engineering and Architectural Services for the Fire Station
Headquarters Project – Fire Station Programing, Revalidation, and Preliminary
Design (Fire Chief)

14. Consultant Services for Development of Local Flood Strategy and Investment Plan
(FSIP) for the City of Chehalis and Port of Chehalis (Capital Projects Manager)

15. Wastewater Equalization Basin Intertie Project (Wastewater Superintendent)

 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

 

29 

39 

43 

51 

97 

155 

  ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE 

Administration Reports 

• City Manager Update

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates (City Council) 

INFORMATION 
ONLY  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Pursuant to RCW 

• 42.30.110 (1)(g)- Evaluate Qualifications of Applicant for Public Employment

THE CITY COUNCIL MAY ADD AND TAKE ACTION ON OTHER ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THIS AGENDA. 

NEXT REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS 
MONDAY, MARCH 11, 2024- 5:00 P.M. 
MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024- 5:00 P.M. 

NEXT SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 – 5:00 P.M. 



Chehalis City Council 

Special Mee�ng Minutes 

January 18, 2024 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Lund, Councilor Spahr, Councilor McDougall, Councilor 
Carns, Councilor Kyes.  

Council Absent: None. 

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Rebecca Gallagher, Administra�ve Assistant to the City 
Manager; Lance Bunker, Public Works Director.  

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle. 

1. Call to Order:
Mayor Ketchum called the mee�ng to order at 5:00 pm.

2. Pledge of Allegiance:
Mayor Ketchum led the flag salute.

3. Approval of Agenda:
A motion was made by Mayor Ketchum, seconded by Councilor Spahr, to approve the agenda as
presented. Motion carried unanimously.

SPECIAL BUSINESS 

4. Interview Candidates for Vacant District 1 City Council Posi�on:
Mayor Ketchum thanked candidate John Six for his interest in the vacant posi�on of Councilor--
District 1. John Six was the only qualified candidate for the council seat, so the interview process
began, and each councilor asked Mr. Six one ques�on.

5. Execu�ve Session:
Mayor Ketchum announced that the council would be in execu�ve session pursuant to RCW
42.30.110(1)(h)-- Evaluate Qualifica�ons of a Candidate for Appointment to Elec�ve Office not to
exceed 5:15 pm and there would be ac�on following conclusion of the execu�ve session. Mayor
Ketchum closed the regular mee�ng at 5:10 pm. Following conclusion of the execu�ve session,
the special mee�ng was reopened at 5:15 pm.

6. Appoint a Candidate to Fill Vacant District 1 City Council Posi�on:
Councilor Carns moved to nominated John Six to Chehalis City Council vacant position District 1;
Councilor McDougall seconded the nomination. The motion passed unanimously.

Mayor Ketchum welcomed John Six and stated that he would be sworn in during the council’s
regular mee�ng on Monday, January 22, 2024.

There being no further business, the mee�ng was adjourned at 5:17 pm.

1



2



Chehalis City Council 
Regular Mee�ng Minutes 

February 12, 2024 
5:00 p.m. 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro Tem Lund, Councilor Spahr, Councilor McDougall, Councilor 
Carns, Councilor Kyes. 

Council Absent: Councilor Six (absent for regular mee�ng due to illness and technical issues with Zoom. 
Councilor Six was able to atend via Zoom for the execu�ve session).  

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Kevin Nelson, City Atorney; Lance Bunker, Public Works 
Director; Chun Saul, Finance Director; Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief; Randy Kaut, Police Chief; Brandon 
Rakes, Airport Director; Riley Bunnel, Water Superintendent; Fritz Beierle, Streets Superintendent; 
Malissa Paulsen, City Planner/Interim Community Development Director; Rebecca Gallagher, 
Administra�ve Assistant to the City Manager; Lilly Wall, Recrea�on Manager.  

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 

1. Call to Order
Mayor Ketchum called the mee�ng to order at 5:00 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance
Mayor Pro Tem Lund led the flag salute.

3. Approval of Agenda
A motion was made by Councilor Spahr, seconded by Mayor Ketchum, to approve the agenda as
presented. Motion carried unanimously.

CONSENT CALENDAR 

4. Minutes of the Regular City Council Mee�ng of January 22, 2024

5. Vouchers and Transfers—Accounts Payable in the Amount of $285,362.19 (Finance Director)

6. Vouchers and Transfers—Payroll in the Amount of $1,043,522.15 (Finance Director)

7. Contract Award Security Updates, Fencing and Gated Entry at Public Works (Public Works Director)

8. Contract Award for Louisiana Ave Traffic Spliters Concrete Project (Public Works Director)

A motion was made by Councilor Spahr, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Lund to approve the items on the 
Consent Calendar as though acted on individually. The motion carried unanimously.  

3



PUBLIC HEARINGS 
None.  

CITIZENS BUSINESS 
None.  

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
None. 

NEW BUSINESS 
9. Agreement for Professional Services with SCJ, Inc. for the Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update

(Interim Community Development Director)

Interim Community Development Manager Malissa Paulsen presented.

A motion was made by Councilor Spahr, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Lund to authorize the City
Manager to execute the agreement with SCJ, Inc. for the Comprehensive Plan Periodic Update in
the amount of $152,000. The motion carried unanimously.

10. Renewal of the Memorandum of Understanding with the Economic Alliance of Lewis County for
Infrastructure Planning, Support, and Advocacy (City Manager)

City Manager Jill Anderson and Economic Alliance Project Manager Todd Chaput presented.

A motion was made by Councilor Spahr, seconded by Councilor McDougall to approve the
Memorandum of Understanding with the Economic Alliance of Lewis County; authorize the
$20,000 budget allocation; and authorize the City Manager to sign the Memorandum of
Understanding. The motion carried unanimously.

ADMINISTRATION REPORTS 

City Manager Update 
City Manager Anderson thanked Finance Director Chun Saul and the Budget Commitee for their �me 
and dedica�on and provided an update on the recruitment of the new City Manager, sta�ng that the first 
review of applica�ons will occur on February 25th.  

2023 Fourth Quarter Financial Report  
Finance Director Chun Saul presented an overview of the City’s financial reports for the year 2023. 

COUNCILOR REPORTS/COMMITTEE UPDATES 

Councilor Spahr reported atending the Economic Alliance banquet, as well as the Budget Commitee 
mee�ng. 

4



Mayor Pro Tem Lund also atended the Economic Alliance banquet, as well as a Chamber board mee�ng. 

Councilor McDougall atended the Economic Alliance banquet, Public Health and Social Services for 
behavioral health, a shelter mee�ng, the Budget Commitee mee�ng, Friday with Friends hosted by 
Experience Chehalis, Lewis County Young Professionals mee�ng, and also met with the Lewis County 
Sheriff and Commissioner Brummer about strategic planning surrounding behavioral health.  

Councilor Carns atended the Budget Commitee mee�ng. 

Mayor Ketchum reported atendance at the Airport’s Master Plan open house, the monthly shelter 
mee�ng, a Children’s event at the Lewis County Museum, a public input forum at the senior center for 
the Coal Creek Project, a Twin Transit Board mee�ng, a SWRPTO Transporta�on mee�ng, the Experience 
Chehalis mee�ng, and also picked up liter with the Chehalis Clean Team. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

PURSUANT TO: 
• RCW 42.30.110(1)(c)- Sale/Lease of Real Estate
• RCW 42.30.110(1)(i)- Li�ga�on/Poten�al Li�ga�on

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the regular meeting and Council entered executive session at 5:47 p.m. for 
50 minutes or until 6:40 p.m., allowing the public five minutes to exit. 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the executive session and reconvened the regular meeting and announced 
that the council would adjourn the regular meeting and reenter executive session for an additional 10 
minutes or until 6:50 p.m. 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the executive session at 6:50 p.m. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 6:50 p.m. 

______________________________
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 

_______________________________
Atest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk  

5



6



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director  
Clare Roberts, Accounting Tech III 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT: 2024 Vouchers and Transfers – Accounts Payable in the Amount of 
$420,094.41. 

ISSUE 

City Council approval is requested for 2024 Vouchers and Transfers dated February 15, 2024.   

DISCUSSION 

The February 15, 2024, Claim Vouchers have been reviewed by a committee of two councilors 
prior to the release of payments.  The administration is requesting City Council approval for Claim 
Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer Checks No. 3460 – 3491, 143 - 145 and Voucher 
Checks No. 138372 - 138471 in the amount of $420,405.29 dated February 15, 2024 and Voided 
checks No. 138351 and 138369 for the net total of $420,094.41 as follows: 

• $ 118,156.23 from the General Fund
• $ 11,028.34 from the Street Fund
• $ 47.59 from the Transportation Benefit District Fund
• $ 1,448.60  from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund
• $ 259.78 from the Automotive Equipment Reserve Fund
• $ 124,458.69 from the Wastewater Fund
• $ 32,120.94 from the Water Fund
• $ 5,288.17 from the Storm & Surface Water Utility Fund
• $ 79,805.86 from the Airport Fund
• $ 4,177.50 from the Water Capital Fund
• $ 35,217.32 from the Airport Capital
• $ 5,773.15 from the Custodial Court Fund

7



• $ 2,623.12 from the Custodial Other Agency Fund
• $ 420,405.29 Total Vouchers for February 15, 2024
• $<310.88> Voided checks for February 15, 2024
• $ 420,094.41 Net Total Transfers

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds 
Transfer Checks No. 3460 – 3491, 143 - 145 and Voucher Checks No. 138372 - 138471 in the 
amount of $420,405.29 dated February 15, 2024, and Voided checks No. 138351 and 138369 for 
the net total of $420,094.41. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer 
Checks No. 3460 – 3491, 143 - 145 and Voucher Checks No. 138372 - 138471 in the amount of 
$420,405.29 dated February 15, 2024, and Voided checks No. 138351 and 138369 for the net 
total of $420,094.41. 

8



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:    Lance Bunker, Public Works Director 
 Fritz Beierle, Street/Storm Superintendent 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 02-2024, Interlocal Agreement with Thurston County for 
Purchase of Anti-Ice Material 

INTRODUCTION 

This Interlocal Agreement (ILA) is aimed at acquiring anti-ice material from Thurston County with 
the intention to strategically apply this product on the hills and main arterials located within the 
city limits of Chehalis when needed.  The implementation of this anti-ice material is crucial for 
enhancing our city's ability to proactively maintain the condition of its streets, particularly during 
adverse weather conditions. By employing this product, we aim to significantly diminish the 
likelihood of accidents, contributing to the overall safety and well-being of our community 
members during inclement weather. 

DISCUSSION 

The City of Chehalis Public Works currently relies solely on sand as a snow and ice inhibitor, priced 
at $19.00 per ton. While effective for providing traction on icy roads, the use of sand necessitates 
extensive cleanup efforts post-event, involving sweeping roads and addressing its accumulation 
in storm drains and road shoulders crucial for water runoff.  

Recognizing the limitations of this approach, Chehalis Public Works is in the initial stages of 
implementing a program to incorporate anti-ice products on city roadways, particularly on hills 
and main traffic routes. This new method aims to complement rather than replace sand 
application.  

Thurston County is willing to sell the needed product to the City of Chehalis.  This product will 
cost $0.53 per gallon. This product will be applied at a rate of 35 gallons per lane mile of road, 
this will amount to approximately 1000 gallons of material per application. This will cover 
approximately 29 lane miles of road. Applied preemptively, the anti-ice product works by melting 
snow from the bottom up, facilitating more efficient road plowing. Additionally, when applied to 
dry roads before frost, it can last up to 5-7 days, or until washed away by rain.  

9



FISCAL IMPACT 

The 2024 Budget includes funds to purchase anti-icing material and the equipment needed to 
apply it. Approval of the ILA will allow the City to purchase the product needed from Thurston 
County.   

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council approve Resolution No. 02-2024 and authorize the City 
Manager to sign the ILA with Thurston County for the purchase of anti-ice material. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council approve Resolution No. 02-2024 and authorize the City Manager to 
sign the Interlocal Agreement with Thurston County for the purchase of anti-ice material. 

10



RESOLUTION NO. 02-2024 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN 
INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH THURSTON COUNTY FOR ANTI-ICING 

MATERIALS 

WHEREAS, RCW 39.34.080 authorizes a public agency to contract with another public 
agency to perform any governmental service, activity or undertaking that each public agency is 
authorized by law to perform; and 

WHEREAS, Thurston County has the capability to produce and/or provide anti-icing 
materials for use in winter road operations; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Chehalis requires anti-icing materials in support of their winter 
operations but does not have the ability to produce the materials; and 

WHEREAS, it is to the mutual advantage of the County and City to cooperate as described 
in the attached interlocal agreement to make the most efficient use of their resources to provide 
services and supplies needed, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Chehalis the City Manager is authorized to execute the interlocal agreement with Thurston 
County for anti-icing materials as described and attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

PASSED by the City Council of Chehalis, Washington, and approved by its Mayor this 
______ day of February 2024.  

______________________________ 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 

City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ 

City Attorney 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Brandon Rakes, Airport Director 

MEETING OF:  February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT:             On-Call Engineering Services Contract Award for Airport Projects 

ISSUE 

The Chehalis-Centralia Airport interviewed engineering firms through the Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) process for engineering services for preliminary design, bidding, and 
construction phases, including incidental special services for projects funded under the Federal 
Aviation Administration Airport Improvement Program or the WSDOT Airport Grant Program.  

DISCUSSION 

The City of Chehalis requested statements of qualifications from engineering consultants and 
sought proposals from qualified firms to provide services as needed for the Chehalis-Centralia 
Airport located in Chehalis, Washington.  

Many, if not all of the projects are anticipated to be funded in part by the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) and the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) 
Aviation Division. All work is required to comply with FAA requirements and regulations when 
necessary. 

The City requested proposals from consultants in October of 2023. Interviews with two 
engineering firms were conducted on February 09, 2024. The firm selected to proceed with is 
Aviation Planning Group (APG).  

APG has a team of passionate airport planners and engineers committed to delivering the 
highest quality engineering services. APG is also our current Planning Consultant and is 
currently working on completing our Master Plan Update.  

The Scope of Services to be performed by The Aviation Planning Group and its team members 
will be identified on individual Task Orders on an as needed basis.  

19



FISCAL IMPACT 

The work will be completed on an as needed basis. The current fee schedule is located on the 
proposed contract with APG. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended the City Council award the contract for On-Call Engineering Services to the 
Aviation Planning Group (APG) and authorize the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documents.  

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council award the contract for On-Call Engineering Services to the Aviation 
Planning Group (APG) and authorize the City Manager to execute all necessary documents.  

20



APG Project No.:  CLS-0002 

MASTER TASK ORDER AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT between   City of Chehalis                      (Sponsor) and The Aviation Planning 
Group, LLC (APG) shall be effective as of the date of the last signature below.  Sponsor and APG agree 
that APG will provide various professional and technical services as requested by Sponsor through issuance 
of individual, consecutively numbered Task Orders on an as needed and requested basis. 

Representatives:  SPONSOR:  

APG:   Leah Whitfield, President__ 

This Agreement shall remain in force and effective from February 2024 through January 2029.  Each Task 
Order shall include a specific schedule. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES and SCHEDULE:  The specific services and corresponding schedule shall be 
mutually agreed upon by Sponsor and APG and included in each individual Task Order executed under the 
authority of this Agreement.  Task Orders shall be in a format similar to EXHIBIT A, attached and made part 
of this Agreement.  

COMPENSATION:  The method of compensation to APG shall be agreed upon and included in each Task 
Order.   Compensation will normally be on a Time and Materials (Unit Rates) or Fixed Price (Lump Sum) 
basis.  Time and Material task orders shall include the hourly rate compensation schedule.   

The following are hereby made a part of this AGREEMENT by attachment: 

Terms and Conditions (3 pages) 
Exhibit A – Task Order Form 
Exhibit B – Mandatory Federal Contract Provisions 

Services covered by this Agreement will be performed in accordance with the attached Terms and Conditions 
and any Exhibits, Attachments, and/or Special Conditions included in individual Task Orders.  This 
Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings and may only be changed by written 
amendment executed by both parties. 

21



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, persons authorized to commit the resources of the Parties have executed this 
Agreement as follows:  

Accepted for Sponsor: Accepted for APG: 

By: By: 

Title: Title: President 

Date: Date:  

Tax ID No: 84-4339523 

22



THE AVIATION PLANNING GROUP, LLC  
STANDARD CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SECTION 1 - SERVICES OF APG  

A. Basic Services
APG shall provide Sponsor the services as described in the individual
Task Orders and in this Agreement within the periods stipulated herein.
Services will be paid for by Sponsor as indicated herein.

B. Schedule 
APG’s services and compensation under this Agreement have been
agreed to in anticipation of the orderly and continuous progress of the
Project through completion.  Unless specific periods of time are specified 
in the individual Task Orders, APG’s obligation to render services
hereunder will be for a period that may reasonably be required for the
completion of said services.

C. Authorization to Proceed
Execution of individual Task Orders by Sponsor will be authorization
for APG to proceed with the Work as scheduled, unless otherwise
provided for in this Agreement.

D. Delay
If in the individual Task Orders specific periods of time for rendering
services are set forth, or specific dates by which services are to be
completed, are provided, and if such periods of time or dates are changed 
through no fault of APG, the rates and amounts of compensation and
time for completions provided herein shall be subject to equitable
adjustment

E. Changes/Additional Services 
The Scope of Services set forth in the individual Task Orders is based on 
facts known at the time of execution of the Task Order, including, if
applicable, information supplied by the Sponsor.  For some projects the
scope may not be fully definable during the initial stages and/or the
Sponsor may at any time during the term of this Agreement make
changes within the general scope of the Agreement.  If such facts
discovered as the Project progresses, or changes that are requested by the 
Sponsor, change the cost of, or time for, performing the services
hereunder, APG will promptly provide Sponsor with an amendment to
recognize such changes.

SECTION 2 - TERMS OF PAYMENT 

A. Invoicing
APG will submit invoices to Sponsor for services rendered and
reimbursable expenses incurred each month.  Invoices will be prepared
in accordance with APG’s standard invoicing practices.  Such invoices
will represent the value of the completed Work and will be in accordance 
with the terms for payment in this Agreement.

B. Progress Payments 
Invoices are due and payable within 30 calendar days of the date of the
invoice. If Sponsor fails to pay undisputed invoices when due, the
amounts due will be increased at the rate of 1.0% per month from said

30th day.  In addition APG may at any time, without waiving any other 
claim against the Sponsor, and without thereby incurring any liability to 
the Sponsor, suspend or terminate performing work hereunder in 
accordance with Section 5.C of this Agreement.  Payments will be 
credited first to interest and then to principal.  In the event of a disputed 
or contested invoice, only that portion so contested may be withheld 
from payment, and the undisputed portion will be paid. 

SECTION 3 - OBLIGATIONS OF SPONSOR 

A. Furnish Data
Sponsor shall provide all criteria and full information as to Sponsor’s
requirements for the Project and furnish all available information
pertinent to the Project, including reports and data relative to previous
designs or investigations at or adjacent to the site.  Sponsor shall provide 
such legal, independent cost estimating, and insurance counseling
services as may be required for the Project.

B. Representative 
Sponsor will designate a person to act with authority on Sponsor’s behalf 
in respect of all aspects of the Project.

C. Timely Review 
Sponsor will examine APG’s studies, reports, drawings and other
project-related work products and render decisions required in a timely
manner.

D. Prompt Notice 
Sponsor will give prompt written notice to APG whenever Sponsor
observes or otherwise becomes aware of hazardous environmental
conditions or of any development that affects the scope or timing of
APG’s Scope of Services or any defect in the Services of APG or the
work of any Contractor.

E. Site Access 
Sponsor will arrange for safe access to and make provisions for APG and
APG’s subconsultants to enter upon public or private property as
required for APG to perform the Services under this Agreement.

SECTION 4 -  OBLIGATIONS OF APG  

A. Independent Contractor 
APG is an independent contractor and will maintain complete control of 
and responsibility for its employees, subcontractors and subconsultants.
APG shall also be solely responsible for the means and methods for
carrying out the Scope of Services and for the safety of its employees.

B. Performance 
APG will perform its Services using that degree of care and skill
ordinarily exercised under the same conditions by Design Professionals
practicing in the same field at the same time in the same or similar
locality.  Professional services are not subject to, and APG cannot
provide any warranty or guarantee, express or implied, including

23



warranties or guarantees contained in any uniform commercial code. 
Any such warranty or guarantee contained in any purchase order, 
requisition or notices to proceed issued by the Sponsor are specifically 
objected to.  

C. Technical Accuracy
Client shall not be responsible for discovering deficiencies in the technical 
accuracy of APG’s work.  APG shall correct deficiencies in technical
accuracy without additional compensation, unless such corrective action
is directly attributable to deficiencies in the Sponsor furnished
information.

D. Publicity
APG will not disclose the nature of its Scope of Services on the Project,
or engage in any publicity or public media disclosures with respect to
this project without the prior written consent of Sponsor.

E. Insurance 
APG agrees to purchase and maintain the following policies of insurance 
under the terms and conditions set forth below:

1) Professional Liability Insurance retroactive to the date of
commencement of APG's services in relation to the Project with a per 
claim and aggregate limit in the amount of $1.0mm.  This policy shall be 
maintained in effect for a period of 1 year after completion of all APG's 
Scope of Services hereunder. 

2) Commercial General Liability (“CGL”) Insurance in the
amount of $1.0mm per occurrence, $1.0mm aggregate limit, and $1.0mm 
products and completed operations aggregate limit.  In addition to the 
coverage provided by the Commercial General Liability Insurance, if not 
already included in such coverage, such insurance shall also provide 
coverage for personal injury, bodily injury, property damage, products-
completed operations (for a minimum of 1 year after completion of work) 
and broad form contractual liability.  

3) Comprehensive Automobile Liability (“Auto”) Insurance in
the amount of $1.0mm per occurrence, and $1.0mm aggregate limit.  In 
addition to the coverage provided by the Comprehensive Automobile 
Liability Insurance, if not already included in such coverage, such 
insurance shall also provide coverage for personal injury, bodily injury 
and property damage arising out of owned, hired, leased and non-owned 
vehicles, automobiles, trucks and trailers. 

4) Workmen's Compensation Insurance in the amount of the
statutory maximum, if there is one, and if there is no statutory maximum, 
in the amount of $1.0mm and Employer’s Liability Insurance of at least 
$1.0mm.  

5) Umbrella Excess Liability Insurance in the minimum amount
of $1.0mm each occurrence, and $1.0mm aggregate limit.  The Umbrella 
Excess Liability Insurance shall be written on an umbrella excess basis 
over, and shall follow form to, the Commercial General Liability 
Insurance policy, the Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance 
policy, and the Employer’s Liability Insurance policy.  The Umbrella 
Excess Liability Insurance policy shall be endorsed to provide defense 
coverage obligations. 

6) APG requires all subcontractors acquire equivalent insurance
as required of APG hereunder.  The provisions of Paragraph 13 of this 
Agreement shall apply equally to APG’s subcontractors as they do to 
APG.  

All insurance policies must be endorsed to provide that the 
insurance company will give the Client at least thirty (30) days written 
notice of cancellation or material change prior to such cancellation or 
modification.   

F. Compliance with Laws 
APG will use reasonable care to comply with applicable laws in effect at
the time the Services are performed hereunder, which to the best of its
knowledge information and belief, apply to its obligations under this
Agreement.

G. No responsibility for Site Safety
If this project involves construction phase engineering services, the
construction contractors shall be solely responsible for the supervision,
directions and control of their work; means, methods, techniques,
sequences and procedures of construction; safety precautions and
programs and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

H. No responsibility for Contractor Performance 
APG shall not be responsible for the quality of any Contractor’s work, or 
for any Contractor’s failure to furnish or perform its work in accordance
with the contract documents. 

I. Equal Opportunity Employment
APG is committed to the principles of equal opportunity and affirmative 
action in employment and procurement.  APG does not discriminate
against applicants, employees, or suppliers on the basis of factors
protected by federal or applicable state laws.

SECTION 5 - GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS 

A. Reuse of Documents 
1. All documents are instruments of service in respect to this

Project, are fully owned by the City. Sponsor may make and
retain copies for information and reference in connection with
the use and occupancy of the Project.  Such documents are not 
intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by Sponsor or
others on extensions of the Project or on any other project.  Any 
reuse without written verification of APG will be at Sponsor’s 
sole risk.  Sponsor shall indemnify and hold harmless APG and
APG’s Consultants from all claims, damages, losses, and
expenses, including attorney fees arising out of or resulting
therefore.

2. Copies of documents that may be relied upon by Sponsor are 
limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies) that
are signed or sealed by APG.  Files in electronic media format
are furnished for convenience.

3. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate

24



or be modified, inadvertently or otherwise, without 
authorization of APG, the party receiving the electronic files 
agrees to perform acceptance tests or procedures within 60 
days, after which the receiving party shall have deemed to have 
accepted the data thus transferred.  Any errors detected within 
the 60-day acceptance period will be corrected by APG.  APG 
will not be responsible to maintain documents stored in 
electronic media format after acceptance by Sponsor. 

4. APG makes no representations as to long term compatibility,
usability, or readability of documents resulting from use of
software application packages, operating system, or computer
hardware differing form those used by APG at the beginning of 
this Project.

B. Indemnification
1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, APG agrees to

indemnify and hold harmless Sponsor from and against any
liability, damages and costs, (including reasonable attorney’s
fees and costs of defense) arising out of the death or bodily
injury to any person or the destruction or damage to any
property, to the extent caused during the performance of
professional services under this Agreement, by  the negligent
acts, errors, and omissions of  APG or anyone for whom APG 
is legally responsible.

2. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Sponsor agrees to
indemnify and hold harmless APG from any liability, damages 
and costs, (including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of
defense) to the extent caused by the negligent acts, errors, and
omissions of  the Sponsor, Sponsors contractors, consultants,
and anyone for whom Sponsor is legally responsible.

3. To the fullest extent permitted by law, APG’s total liability to
Sponsor and anyone claiming by, through or under Sponsor for
any claim, cost, loss or damage caused in part by the negligence 
of APG and in part by Sponsor or any other negligent entity or 
individual, shall not exceed the percentage share that APG’s 
negligence bears to the total of all other negligent entities and
individuals.

C. Termination / Suspension
1. Sponsor may terminate this Agreement for convenience.  In

such event, APG will be entitled to compensation for Services
performed up to the date of termination, including profit related 
thereto, plus any expenses of termination.

2. The obligation to provide further Services under this
Agreement may be suspended by either party upon 7 days
written notice or terminated by either party upon thirty (30)
days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the
other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof
(including Sponsor’s obligation to make payments required
hereunder) through no fault of the suspending or terminating
party, and defaulting party does not commence correction of
such nonperformance within five (5) days of written notice and 
diligently completes the correction thereafter.

D. Consequential Damages / Limitation of Liability
To the fullest extent permitted by law, APG and Sponsor waive against
each other, and the other’s employees, officers, directors, agents, insurers, 
partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, 
incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting
from, or in any way related to the Project, and agree that APG’s total
liability to Sponsor under this Agreement shall be limited to the amount
of its Compensation as defined per the Task Order.

E. Limits of Agreement
This instrument contains the entire Agreement between the parties, and
no statement, promise or inducements made by either party that are not
contained in this written Agreement shall be valid or binding.  This
Agreement upon execution by both parties hereto, can only be amended
by written instrument signed by both parties.

F. Severability and Survival
The various terms, provisions and covenants herein contained shall be
deemed to be separate and severable, and the invalidity of
unenforceability of any of them shall not affect or impair the validity or
enforceability of the remainder.

G. Waiver 
No waiver by either party of any default by the other party in the
performance of any particular section of this Agreement shall invalidate
any other section of this Agreement or operate as a waiver of any future
default, whether like or different in character.

H. Choice of Law and Venue
The parties agree that any action at law or judicial proceeding for the
enforcement of this Agreement or any provision thereof shall be
instituted only in the courts of the State of Washington, and it is mutually 
agreed that this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Washington, both as to interpretation and performance.

I. Material Adverse Effect
This Agreement may be amended if an event, change or effect creates a
material adverse effect upon the operation of APG.  Such material adverse 
effect may be created by, or be the effects of Acts of God (including fire, 
flood, earthquake, storm, pandemic or other natural disaster), war
(whether declared or not declared), terrorist activities, labor dispute,
strike, lockout or interruption or failure of electricity or telephone service 
which materially impairs APG’s ability to operate is business in
accordance with the standard of professional practice ordinarily exercised 
by our profession and which formed the basis for this Agreement. 

J. No Third Party Beneficiaries 
Nothing contained in this Agreement nor the performance of the parties
hereunder, is intended to benefit, nor shall inure to the benefit of, any
third party, including Sponsor’s contractors, in any.

K. Successor, Assigns, and Beneficiaries 
Neither Sponsor nor APG may assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under 
or interest (including but without limitation, moneys that are due or may 
become due) in this Agreement without the written consent of the other,

25



except as mandated or restricted by law.  No assignment will release or 
discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under this 
Agreement.   

L. Prevailing Party Litigation Costs 
In the event any actions are brought to enforce this Agreement, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its litigation costs from the
other party.

M. Statutes of Limitation
To the fullest extent permitted by law, parties agree that, except for claims 
for indemnification, the time period for bringing claims under this
Agreement shall expire one year after Project completion.

N. Authority
The person signing this Agreement warrants that they have the authority
to sign as, or on behalf of, the party for whom they are signing.

O. Quality Control Plan
APG will prepare a Quality Control Plan as required by the Special
Provisions of AC 150/5370-10 for any project that will require one.

P. Engineer’s Design Report and Final Report 
APG will prepare both an Engineer’s Design Report and Final Report per
FAA AIP guidance for any project that will require them.

26



APG Project No.:  Click here to enter text. 
Exhibit A to Master Task Order Agreement for Professional Services 
Sample Task Order 

TASK ORDER (format only) 

Task Order No.:         

Issued under the authority of Professional Services Master Task Order Agreement Number: 

Task Order Title:        

Effective Date:       

This Task Order is issued under the provisions of the above Professional Services Master Task Order Agreement 
dated                                                                 , 20     between   City of Chehalis  (SPONSOR) and The Aviation Planning 
Group, LLC,  (APG). 

The following representatives have been designated for the work performed under this Task Order: 

SPONSOR:                                                            APG :        

SCOPE OF WORK: (attach additional sheet(s) as required) 

(insert scope or reference EXHIBIT A – Scope of Services) 

COMPENSATION: (revise the following as necessary) 

APG shall be reimbursed on a (Time & Materials, Lump Sum, Percent of Completion, etc.)            basis.  
APG shall invoice no more often than monthly for services provided in the prior month.  

The provisions of the Professional Services Master Task Order Agreement and any Special Terms and Conditions and/or 
Exhibits or Attachments to this Task Order shall govern the Work. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties authorized to commit resources of the companies have executed this Task Order: 

  City of Chehalis The Aviation Planning Group, LLC 

By:     By:         

Title: ____________________  Title:       

Date: Date:   

 Fed. ID. No.   84-4339523 

27



APG Project No.:  Click here to enter text. 

Exhibit A to Master Task Order Agreement for Professional Services 
APG Standard Fee Schedule 

28



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Chun Saul, Finance Director 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 1090-B, Establishing 2023 Year-End Fund Balance Commitments – 
First Reading 

ISSUE 

The Washington State Auditor’s BARS Manual requires beginning and ending cash and investments 
(fund balances) be classified in five fund balance categories as follows: nonspendable, restricted, 
committed, assigned, or unassigned for governmental funds.  

The Committed Fund Balance classification requires the most binding formal action (Ordinance) by the 
City Council. Ordinance No. 1090-B has been prepared in connection with establishing 2023 year-end 
fund balance commitments. 

FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS 

The chart below summarizes the fund balance classifications and specific requirements. 

Classification Authority Purpose 

Nonspendable Inherent Nonfinancial resources (i.e., endowment fund) 
Restricted External restrictions Restrictions on the purpose or use of resources imposed by law 

through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation, or 
contracts (i.e., creditors, grantors, bond covenants, donors, or 
other governments).  

Committed Internal commitments Specific (not generic) limitations that the government imposes 
upon itself by the governing body through the most binding formal 
action (i.e. ordinance) and that remains binding unless removed in 
the same manner.  

Assigned Intended use Amounts intended to be used by the government for specific 
purposes that are neither restricted nor committed.  Can be done 
in an informal way such as a motion or other form of directive. 
The creation of a fund outside of the general fund is considered at 
least assigned since the creation of a fund automatically sets aside 
the monies for a purpose.  

Unassigned Any allowable use and 
purpose of that fund. 

All other funds that are not reported in other categories. 

These classifications indicate “the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can be spent.” The classifications reflect these 
limitations and inform management and financial statement users how much of the government’s 

29



resources are reserved for a specific purpose or use and how much is freely available for any allowable 
purpose of that fund. 

Budget documents approved by resolution or ordinance do not meet criteria for classifying balances as 
committed because the budget only represents the government’s authorized spending during the 
period, rather than a constraint on remaining balances at year end.  In other words, a budget deals with 
plans for anticipated revenues and expenditures – resources not yet collected, and expenditures not yet 
incurred – whereas an internal commitment imposes a permanent constraint on currently existing 
financial resources. 

Merely creating “reserve” funds through resolution or ordinance to set money aside for a different 
purpose or circumstance (i.e., emergency fund or rainy-day fund) does not automatically classify the 
entire fund balance as committed.  

The government may establish a policy for its intended order of use of classification balances when an 
expenditure is incurred in which restricted, committed, and assigned cash and investment balances can 
be used to pay the expenditure. In absence of an approved policy, it is assumed that the government 
will use the most restricted cash and investment balance first.  

PROPOSED COMMITMENTS FOR 2023 YEAR END FUND BALANCE (Cash and Investments) 

General Fund (Fund 001): The actual ending cash and investment (fund balance) of the City’s General 
Fund as of 12/31/2023 is $3,365,287. This is $1,324,304 over the estimated fund balance for year-end 
2023 and is about 27.0 % of the 2023 general fund actual revenues.   

2023 Year-End Fund Balance - General Fund

General Fund (Fund 001)
2023 Amended 

Budget 2023 Actual Variance
Beginning Fund Balance 3,586,011             3,586,011             - 
Revenues 12,181,398           12,610,724          429,326           
Transfers In 182,867                 182,867                - 
Expenditures 12,029,067           11,102,935          (926,132)          
Transfers Out 1,880,226             1,911,380             31,154             
Changes in Fund Balance (1,545,028)            (220,724)               1,324,304        
Ending Fund Balance 12/31/2023 2,040,983             3,365,287             1,324,304        
% of Revenues 17% 27%

On February 9, 2024, the City Manager and Finance Director met with the City Council Budget 
Committee and discussed whether a portion of the General Fund’s 2023 ending fund balance should be 
committed for any specific purposes. The Council Budget Committee recommended that the year-end 
fund balance in excess over the 10% general fund operating reserve be committed to provide additional 
funding for the Compensated Absences Reserve Fund and Automotive/Equipment Reserve Fund, as well 
as establishing new reserve funds for emergencies and sales tax revenue stabilization purposes.  

A total of $199,916 of the total 2023 year-end fund balance is restricted which includes the drug seizure 
funds, substance abuse fund, and municipal court bail deposits. The remaining $3,165,371 fund balance 
can be classified as committed, assigned, or unassigned.  

Based on the Council Budget Committee’s recommendations, the staff proposes that $1,300,600 of the 
2023 ending fund balance be designated as committed for the purposes provided below, and the 
remaining $1,864,771 be designated as unassigned, which is about 14.8% of the 2023 general fund 

30



revenues. The unassigned fund balance is $603,699 over the 10% operating reserve goal, which can be 
used to realign the operating reserves at 10% level for fiscal year 2024. 

2023 Year-End General Fund Fund Balance Designation - Proposed  Amount Note
Restricted Fund Balance 199,916$              1
Committed Fund Balances:

Contingency (Emergency) Reserve 414,400$              2
Sales Tax Revenue Stabil ization Reserve 406,200$              3
Compensated Absences Reserve 130,000$              4
Automotive/Equipment Reserve 350,000$              5

Total for Committed Fund Balance - Proposed 1,300,600$          
Unassigned Fund Balance** 1,864,771$          6
Total Ending Fund Balance 12/31/2023 3,365,287$          
**Unassigned Fund Balance % of Revenues 14.8% 6
10% of 2023 revenue (Operating Reserve) 1,261,072$          
Unassigned fund balance in excess over 10% operating reserve 603,699$             6

Foot Notes: 
1. Statutorily restricted revenue sources 
2. City Council appropriation. Funding sources include one-time revenue, year-end budget surplus, and/or other designated 
resources. Fund balance is capped at $0.375 per $1,000 assessed valuation of the property tax (RCW 35A.34.250). Initial
funding source is a transfer of a portion of General Fund ending fund balance in excess over 10% of general fund operating 
reserve at year end 2023.
3. 70% of construction sales tax is contributed to the Sales Tax Revenue Stabilization Fund, capped at 10% of the average Local
Regular and Optional Sales Tax Revenue collected in the 3 years immediately preceding. With City Council appropriation,
funds may be utilized to cover revenue deficit due to sales tax revenue receipt is 2.0% below current year forecast or 2.0%
below the average annual receipt in the 3 years immediately preceding.
4. Additional funding need for anticipated general fund retirees' cash outs in the next 2 to 4 years.
5. Additional funding needed for general fund vehicles and equipment replacements.
6. This is needed to realign and maintain the operation reserve level at 10% for fiscal year 2024.

If the proposed fund balance designation is approved by the City Council, the committed fund balances 
will be transferred to the respective reserve funds in 2024 through the budget amendment process.  

The below table provides the preliminary outlook for 2024 adjusted budget that will be presented to the 
City Council on March 11, 2024, Council Meeting: 

General Fund 2024 Budget Outlook
 2024 Adopted 

Budget 

Proposed Budget 
Increase 

(Decrease)
 2024 Amended 

Budget #1 Note
Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 2,040,983$           1,324,304$          3,365,287$     
Revenues:
Revenues - Sales Tax 6,913,100             (378,000)               6,535,100        1
Revenues - Util ity tax 1,742,400             626,000                2,368,400        2
Revenues  - all  other 4,158,155             - 4,158,155 
Transfers In 104,970                 - 104,970 
Total Revenues & Transfer in 12,918,625           248,000                13,166,625     
Expenditures:
All Expenditures 12,480,976           - 12,480,976 
Transfers Out - Recurring 1,434,088             - 1,434,088 
Transfers Out - One time (Emergency Fund) - 414,400 414,400 3
Transfers Out - One time (Sales Tax Revenue Stabil ization) - 406,200 406,200           3
Transfers Out - One time (Compensated Absences Reserve) - 130,000 130,000           3
Transfers Out - One time (Auto/Equipment Reserve) 350,000 350,000           3
Total Expenditures & Transfers Out 13,915,064           1,300,600             15,215,664     
Changes in Fund Balance (996,439)               (1,052,600)           (2,049,039)      
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 1,044,544$           271,704$              1,316,248$     
% of revenues 8.2% 10.0%

31



Foot Note: 
1. Adjust sales tax projections to the annual average immediately preceding 3 years.
2. City water, sewer, and stormwater utility tax increase approved by City Council (effective 2/1/2024)
3. Transfer out, per the 2023 Year-End Fund Balance designation Ordinance adopted by the City Council.

Other Governmental Funds - Committed Fund Balances 

In addition to the General Fund (Fund 001), the City maintains several other reserve funds that are 
primarily funded with the City’s general revenues. The sub-funds are managerial funds in nature and are 
rolled-up into the General Fund for financial reporting purposes. The unrestricted portions of these 
funds’ balances are classified as Assigned by default except any portion that is designated as Committed 
by the City Council. It is proposed that the 2023 unrestricted ending fund balances of these funds be 
designated as Committed for the specific purposes and use as follows: 

General Fund Sub-Funds: 
• $348,920 for street maintenance and operations
• $54,846 for building abatement
• $143,210 for general fund future retiree cash outs (compensated absences)
• $290,402 for LEOFF 1 OPEB medical and healthcare benefits
• $802,234 for automotive/equipment replacement reserve
• $250,000 for financial system upgrades
• $1,889,612 total for general fund sub-funds

Public Facilities Reserve Fund: 
• $250,000 for permanent fire station preliminary engineering and design
• $80,000 for police evidence garage renovation/acquisition
• $501,813 for general facilities major repairs and improvements
• $831,813 total for Public Facilities Reserve Fund

Parks Improvement Fund: 
• $104,759 for sports complex capital improvements/replacements
• $20,000 for Lintott/Alexander Park improvements
• $124,759 total for Parks Improvement Fund

Restricted Governmental Funds: The ending cash and investments (fund balances) in the Transportation 
Benefit District (TBD) Fund, Lodging Tax Fund, CDBG Fund, HUD Block Grant Fund, Federal Advance 
Grant Control Fund, and REET Funds are reported as restricted as the revenue sources have statutory 
limitations or other specific limitations from the granting agencies how they can be used. Some of the 
balances have been ear-marked and budgeted for specific purposes in the 2024 adopted budget. 

Enterprise Funds: Fund balances in enterprise funds (utilities and Airport) will include restricted 
amounts for refundable customer deposits and minimum debt service reserves required by debt 
covenants. The remaining amounts will be reported as assigned balances that can be spent for that 
enterprise fund activity. 

SUMMARY 

In summary, it is recommended that a total of $4,146,784 of the City’s governmental funds’ 2023 year-
end cash and investments (fund balances) be designated as committed as follows: 

32



2023 Year-End Committed Fund Balance Total

Fund Designation/Purposes Fund 001 Fund 003 Fund 004 Fund 110 Fund 115 Fund 302

 Total 
General 

Fund & Sub 
Funds Fund 301 Fund 303

 2023 Year-
End 

Committed 
Fund Balance  

Proposed Commitments & Purposes:
Emergency (RCW 35A.34.250) reserve 414,400     414,400     414,400          
Sales tax revenue stabilization reserve 406,200     406,200     406,200          
Street operations and maintenance 348,920   348,920     348,920          
Building abatement 54,846     54,846        54,846             
Compensated absences - retiree cash outs 130,000     143,210   273,210     273,210          
LEOFF 1 OPEB reserve 290,402   290,402     290,402          
Permanent fire station preliminary A&E -              -              250,000     250,000          
General facilities major repairs/improvements -              -              501,813     501,813          
Vehicle/equipment replacements 350,000     802,234     1,152,234  1,152,234       
Acquisition/repiar of police evidence garage -              80,000       80,000             
Financial software/system upgrades 250,000     250,000     250,000          
Sports Complex capital improvement - LTAC -              56,600     56,600             
Sports Complex capital improvement  -              48,159     48,159             
Lintott/Alexander Park improvement -              20,000     20,000             
Total Proposed Commitments 1,300,600 348,920   54,846     143,210   290,402   1,052,234 3,190,212  831,813     124,759   4,146,784       

General Funds Capital Project Funds

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council authorize a total of $4,146,784 of the City’s governmental 
funds’ cash and investments (fund balances) as of 12/31/2023 to be Committed for the amounts and 
specific purposes as provided above and authorize the City Manager to designate other fund balances as 
Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council and approve Ordinance No. 1090-B on the 
first reading, which will require the waiver of the City Council’s own rule requiring two readings of an 
Ordinance. If adopted on first and final reading, the Finance Director can use this information to 
complete the proposal for the first amendment to the 2024 Budget, which is schedule to be presented 
to you in March.  

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council: 

1) Waive its rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance.
2) Approve Ordinance No. 1090-B on the first and final reading.

33



34



ORDINANCE NO. 1090-B 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, 
ESTABLISHING FUND BALANCE DESIGNATION AS PROVIDED BY 
WASHINGTON STATE AUDITOR’S BARS MANUAL FOR CASH BASIS 
ENTITY FOR YEAR END 2023. 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Auditor’s Office Cash Basis BARS Manual established a 
new classification system in 2020 requiring the beginning and ending cash and investments (fund 
balances) to be classified as “non-spendable,” “restricted,” “committed,” “assigned,” or 
“unassigned”; and 

WHEREAS, these classifications indicate “the extent to which the government is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can be spent”; and 

WHEREAS, the Committed fund balance classification identifies internal fund 
commitments with limitations that the City imposes upon itself through formal binding action by 
the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, the Assigned fund balance classification identifies funds intended to be used 
for specific purposes that are neither restricted, nor committed, and do not require formal 
binding action by City Council; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds it beneficial to designate certain fund balances as 
Committed for specific purposes or projects and for the City Manager to designate certain other 
fund balances as Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO 
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The fund balances of the City of Chehalis designated in this Ordinance are 
Committed for the specific purposes indicated.  Amendments or modifications of the Committed 
fund balances set forth herein shall require formal action by the City Council. 

Section 2.  The City Council authorizes the City Manager to categorize other fund balances 
as Assigned in order to carry out the intent of the City Council. 

Section 3.  The following portions of the City’s 2023 year-End fund balances, as of 
December 31, 2023, are designated as Committed in the total amount of $4,146,784: 

• General Fund (001):
o $414,400 for emergency fund, to be used pursuant to RCW 35A.34.250
o $406,200 for sales tax revenue stabilization reserve fund

35



o $130,000 for additional reserve for future general fund retiree cash outs
o $350,000 for additional reserve for automotive/equipment replacement
o $1,300,600 total for the General Fund (Fund 001)

• General Fund Sub-Funds:
o $348,920 for street maintenance and operations
o $54,846 for building abatements
o $143,210 for general fund future retiree cash outs (compensated absences)
o $290,402 for LEOFF 1 OPEB medical and healthcare benefits
o $802,234 for general fund automotive/equipment replacements
o $250,000 for financial system upgrades
o $1,889,612 total for general fund sub-funds

• Public Facilities Reserve Fund:
o $250,000 for permanent fire station preliminary engineering and design
o $80,000 for police evidence garage renovation/acquisition
o $501,813 for general facilities major repairs and improvements
o $831,813 total for Public Facilities Reserve Fund

• Parks Improvement Fund:
o $104,759 for sports complex capital improvements/replacements
o $20,000 for Lintott/Alexander Park improvements
o $124,759 total for Parks Improvement Fund

Section 4.  This Ordinance hereby revokes any remaining orders or committed fund 
balances from the 2022 year-end fund balance designation Ordinance No. 1065-B. 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by its 
Mayor at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this _____ day of 
____________________, 2024. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

Approved as to form and content: 

36



______________________________ 
 City Attorney 

37



38



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Allen Unzelman, Municipal Court Judge 
Kevin T. Nelson, City Attorney 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT:  Creation of Chehalis Treatment Court Program (“CTC”) 

ISSUE 

It is proposed that the City partner with Lewis County to create a Chehalis Treatment Court program to 
assist in addressing the root causes of crimes committed by those with drug/substance abuse and/or 
mental health conditions. 

THE PROBLEM 

Since the onset of COVID-19, Chehalis has seen a rise in both homelessness and criminal filings, despite 
detours with partial drug legalization.  

Many of the crimes are committed by individuals who are best described as “frequent flyers” – people 
who commit similar, non-violent crimes serially. These are often trespass and theft from local businesses 
by people looking to steal enough to buy fentanyl or other drugs. They are characterized by theft of low-
dollar value items easily traded for a drug of choice.  

Other frequent flyers are repeat domestic violence offenders – not necessarily domestic violence in the 
violent Hollywood thriller sense – but yelling and shoving matches between romantic partners where no 
significant injuries occur or are even intended. Frequently, one or both parties are intoxicated or suffering 
from diagnosed/diagnosable mental health conditions such as bi-polar disorder, schizophrenia, or post-
traumatic stress disorder.  

The point is that a majority of the cases that come through the municipal court are predicated upon 
drug/substance use and/or mental health conditions. Some of the individuals understand their 
predicament, but many do not, or do not have the tools necessary to do anything about it. The sad reality 
is that a homeless, schizophrenic, self-medicating fentanyl addict is simply unable, alone, to make the 
changes necessary to become a functioning member of society.  

CURRENT CONSEQUENCES ARE COSTLY AND RARELY EFFECTIVE 

When these individuals are haled into court, a conviction results in a short jail stay (if any), perhaps a fine 
of $250-$1000, and occasionally a requirement for essentially self-directed “treatment” involving showing 
up for a few classes. If an individual manages to avoid re-offending (or capture for re-offending) for 24 

39



months, that is the end of the Court’s authority. If they do happen to re-offend and get caught, a few 
more jail days can be added.  

The City pays a nightly rate of $94.27 for each jail stay, or $659.89 per week.  This results in a maximum 
penalty of 90 days on misdemeanor charges costing the City $8,484.30 and a maximum penalty of 364 
days on a gross misdemeanor charge costing the city $34,314.28, and this is in jail costs alone.  

The Municipal Court has jurisdiction over all misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor crimes committed 
within the city limits of Chehalis.  

The standard model for criminal courts involves a severely limited set of tools for punishment of crimes, 
and little to no opportunity for treatment to reduce recidivism. Recidivism is essentially the return of 
individuals involved in criminal activity to that criminal activity following conviction. Studies throughout 
the state have found that the rate of recidivism is significantly reduced (in some cases approaching 50% 
reduction) if individuals complete a rigorous treatment course rather than simply spend a short period of 
time in custody.  

PROPOSED TREATMENT COURT 

Chehalis Municipal Court has no current treatment alternatives. The Municipal Court Judge and the City 
Attorney/Prosecutor are requesting funds to create a treatment alternative option in appropriate cases. 
The goal would be to share resources with Lewis County which already has two successful treatment court 
alternatives.  

While a treatment court can never be a stand-alone solution to addiction, homelessness, and crime, there 
are many examples of treatment courts in Washington State and in Lewis County which have resulted in 
reduced active addiction, increased housing, and reduced recidivism.  

Lewis County has been engaged in talks with the City in an effort to share resources in an effort to allow 
Chehalis to provide an effective treatment court. While still in early stages of potential development, the 
working idea is that the County and the City would enter into an Interlocal Agreement (“ILA”) in which the 
County would provide case-management assistance to the City in the treatment court context.  

Case-management would include assistance with screening individuals for appropriateness for the 
program, recommending and assisting specific treatment, locating resources for payment for said 
treatment, and treatment monitoring throughout the program. The County has unique competency in the 
provision of these services because they currently operate two successful programs already.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

It is requested that the City Council authorize the City Manager to enter into an ILA with the County for 
as much as $50,000.00 through 2024.  While the entire amount may not be needed, it is important to set 
aside sufficient funds to initiate the program.  This is not a budgeted expense, so an additional 
appropriation would be needed from the City’s General Fund Reserve.  If approved, the appropriation 
would be included in the proposed first amendment to the City’s 2024 Budget, which is scheduled to go 
before the City Council in March.   

BUDGET COMMITTEE 

Typically, this matter would have been discussed with the Budget Committee prior to being presented to 
the entire City Council.  Unfortunately, the County is also seeking funding for this project, and their 

40



deadline is fast approaching. The County would be providing essentially matching funds during, at a 
minimum, the first year.  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council: 
• Approve allocation of up to $50,000.00 at the City Manager’s discretion for an ILA with Lewis

County.
• Authorize the City Manager to execute a one year ILA with the County with the possibility of

renewal if the program proves to be successful.

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council authorize the City Manager to enter into an Interlocal Agreement with Lewis 
County for the purpose of establishing a Chehalis Treatment Court, including paying up to $50,000.00 for 
case management assistance.  

41



42



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Brandon Rakes, Airport Director  

DATE: February 26, 2024    

SUBJECT:  Consideration of the Fifth Amendment to Agreement with CCA Retail, LLC (Twin City 
Town Center) 

ISSUE 

The Chehalis-Centralia Airport has received an amendment request for CCA Retail, LLC (Twin City Town 
Center). 

INTRODUCTION 

The current CCA Retail Agreement with the City of Chehalis was established in 2000. There have been 
multiple amendments to the contract since that date. These amendments updated the legal description, 
Right of Way, reduced the amount of property leased, and reduced rent. The initial lease term was for 
fifty-five years and is scheduled to expire on the last day of the lease year in 2055. 

TERMS OF THE PROPOSAL 

The Amendment to the Agreement with CCA Retail provides the following updates: 

• Lease Term: The Fifth Amendment would extend the agreement term to May 31, 2079 (55
years). The current agreement expires on the last day of the 55th year in which the lease
was executed in 2000, which is the end of 2055.

• Rent Adjustments: Rent would adjust every five years based on the Consumer Price Index
(CPI) five-year average. This adjustment would have a minimum increase of ten percent and
a maximum increase of twelve percent. In addition to the five-year adjustments, there will
also be a Periodic Adjustment based on reappraisal to determine Fair Market Rent. This
would occur every twenty years. This is similar to the existing agreement with the only
difference being the possibility of higher rent prices by using CPI.

• Other Updates: These updates are administrative in nature and intended to update the
Agreement to current standards.

o The indemnification language has been updated.
o The insurance provision has been updated.
o A provision on casualty losses for the tenant’s property was added.

Attorney Seth Woolson of CSD Attorneys at Law has carefully reviewed the Agreement and made 
modifications as needed to protect the rights of the City.  

43



FISCAL IMPACT 

If the proposed Amendment is accepted, the City will continue to receive lease revenue annually that is 
restricted for the operation of the Chehalis-Centralia Airport. The current amount of rent collected 
annually for this site is $374,004. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the Fifth Amendment to CCA Retail Lease Agreement 
and authorize the City Manager to execute the documents.   

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council approve the Fifth Amendment to the CCA Retail Lease Agreement and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the documents.   

44



 Premises Site 
Plan for CCA Retail (Tract 19) 

45



46



FIFTH AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE 

This FIFTH AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE (the “Fifth Amendment”) is made and 
entered into this ____ day of __________, 2024, by and between the CITY OF CHEHALIS (the 
"Landlord"), and CCA RETAIL, LLC. (the "Tenant"). 

I. RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Landlord and Tenant entered into that Ground Lease dated June 12, 
2000, as amended by the First Amendment to Ground Lease dated July 12, 2000; by the Ground 
Lease Amendment No. 1 dated July 14, 2003; by the Third Amendment to Ground Lease dated 
October 24, 2011; and by the Fourth Amendment to Ground Lease dated July 1, 2014 (collectively 
the “Lease”); and 

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to extend the term of the Lease and amend 
certain other provisions of the Lease. 

II. AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, the Lease is hereby amended as follows:  

1. The first sentence of Lease Paragraph 3.1 is modified to read as follows:

This Lease shall become legally binding on the Effective Date (as defined in Section 21.19
hereof), and shall expire on May 31, 2079.

2. Lease Paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5 are deleted in their entirety and replaced as follows:

4.4 Base Rent Adjustment.  As set forth in this Section, the Base Rent shall be
adjusted based upon the change in the Consumer Price Index (the “CPI”) for all urban
consumers, West Region, all items index (the “Annual Adjustment”), and periodically
based upon agreement or appraisal (the “Periodic Adjustment”).

(a) Five Year Adjustments. Base Rent for the Property shall be subject to a
five-year adjustment on July 1, 2029, and every five-years thereafter.  The Base Rent rate 
shall be adjusted by using the percentage change over the most recently published sixty 
(60)-month period of CPI for all urban consumers, West Region, all items index published 
by the United States Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics, except in no event 
shall the Base Rent rate be less than 10% or more than 12% over the previous months 
Base Rent.  

(b) Twenty-Year Adjustments.  On each twentieth (20th) anniversary of the
Commencement Date, the Base Rent will be adjusted to the fair market rental value.  
For purposes of this Paragraph, the fair market rental value shall equal ten percent 
(10%) of the fair market value of the Premises based upon vacant unimproved land 
exclusive of all Tenant Improvements made to the Premises after the Commencement 
Date of this Lease.  Base Rent shall be determined by appraisal. 

47



(c) Appraisal.  When Base Rent is to be determined by appraisal, the process
in this Subsection (c) shall govern.  Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree upon a 
disinterested, MAI-certified appraiser to perform an appraisal of the fair market rental rate 
for the Property without accounting for the value of any improvements on the Property 
paid for by Tenant.  The appraiser's costs shall be shared equally by the parties.  The 
rental rate arrived at in the appraisal shall constitute the new Base Rent, which shall be 
retroactive to the Adjustment Date.  If Landlord and Tenant cannot mutually agree upon 
an appraiser by the end of the seventh (7th) day as set forth above, then each party shall 
select a MAI-certified appraiser to perform an appraisal of the fair market rental value of 
the Property.  Each party shall bear the costs of its own appraisal.  The appraisals shall 
be completed no later than ninety (90) days after the Renegotiation Deadline (herein this 
date shall be referred to as the "Appraisal Completion Date").  The average of the two (2) 
appraisals shall constitute the new Base Rent, which shall be retroactive to the Adjustment 
Date.  If either of the appraisals is not timely completed on or before the Appraisal 
Completion Date, and unless there were circumstances beyond the appraisers' control 
that prevented its timely completion, then the rental rate established in the appraisal that 
was timely completed shall constitute the new Base Rent. 

3. Lease Paragraph 12.1 is deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows:

12.1 Indemnity.  Landlord shall have no responsibility or control with respect to any
aspect of the Property, or any activity conducted thereon, from and after the Effective
Date.  The Tenant agrees that it will defend (with legal counsel acceptable to Landlord),
indemnify, and hold the Landlord, and its officers, employees, and agents, harmless from
any and all demands, claims, judgments, or liability for loss or damage arising as a result
of accidents, injuries, or other occurrences on the Premises or on Landlord’s property (i)
occasioned by either the negligent or willful conduct of the Tenant and/or its agents; or (ii)
made by any person or entity holding under the Tenant, or any person or entity on the
Premises or on the Landlord’s property as a result of Tenant’s activity, regardless of who
the injured party may be.  This indemnification and hold harmless shall not apply to the
extent the damages were caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the
Landlord, its agents, or employees.

(a) LIMITED WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER WASHINGTON STATE
INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT, TITLE 51 RCW, AND OTHER SIMILAR INDUSTRIAL 
INSURANCE SCHEMES.  For purposes of the foregoing indemnification provision, and 
only to the extent of claims against Tenant by Landlord under such indemnification 
provision, Tenant specifically waives any immunity it may be granted under the 
Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW, The United States Longshore 
and Harbor Workers Compensation Act, 33 USC §901-950, or any other similar workers’ 
compensation schemes.  The indemnification obligation under this Lease shall not be 
limited, in any way, by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or 
benefits payable to or for any third party under workers’ compensation acts, disability 
benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.  The foregoing provision was specifically 
negotiated and agreed upon by the parties hereto. 

4. Lease Paragraph 12.4 is amended to add subsections (f), (g), (h), and (i), reading as
follows:

48



(f) Expressly provide that the defense and indemnification of the Landlord as
an “additional insured” will not be affected by any act or omission by Tenant which
might otherwise result in a forfeiture of said insurance.

(g) Contain a separation of insureds provision such that the policy applies
separately to each insured that is subject of a claim or suit.

(h) Not contain a cross-claim, cross-suit, or other exclusion that eliminates
coverage by one insured against another; and

(i) Provide for coverage for damage to the Landlord’s property caused by the
Tenant.

5. A new Paragraph 12.10 is added to the Lease, reading as follows:

12.10  Casualty Loss of Tenant.  The parties hereto agree that the Landlord, and its
commissioners, employees, insurance carrier, and casualty policy, shall not be
responsible to the Tenant for any property loss or damage done to the Tenant’s property,
whether real, personal, or mixed, occasioned by reason of any fire, storm, or other casualty
whatsoever.  It shall be the Tenant’s sole responsibility to provide its own protection
against casualty losses of whatsoever kind or nature, regardless of whether or not such
loss is occasioned by the acts or omissions of the Landlord, Tenant, third party, or act of
nature.  Tenant hereby releases and discharges the Landlord, and its commissioners,
employees, insurance carrier, and casualty policy, from any claims for loss or damage to
Tenant’s property.

ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS of the Lease shall remain the same and in full
force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord has caused this instrument to be signed by its 
____________ by authority of the Counsel of the City of Chehalis, and Tenant has caused this 
instrument to be signed by its proper agent thereunto duly authorized, as of the date and year first 
written above.   

TENANT: LANDLORD: 

CCA RETAIL, LLC. CITY OF CHEHALIS 

____________________________ ____________________________ 
By: By: 
Its: Its: 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

)    ss. 
COUNTY OF LEWIS  ) 

On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared,     , to me 

49



known to be the     of the CITY OF CHEHALIS, and acknowledged the said 
instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they were authorized to execute the said 
instrument on behalf of the corporation. 

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 20___. 

Print Name: 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 
State of Washington, residing at 
My commission expires:  

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
)    ss. 

COUNTY OF __________ ) 

On this day before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of 
Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared,     , to me 
known to be the     of CCA RETAIL, LLC., and acknowledged the said 
instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation, for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that they were authorized to execute the said 
instrument on behalf of the corporation. 

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this ____ day of ______________, 20___. 

Print Name: 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 
State of Washington, residing at 
My commission expires:  

50



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT:  Contract for Engineering and Architectural Services for the Fire Station 
Headquarters Project – Fire Station Programing and Revalidation and 
Preliminary Design 

INTRODUCTION 

As previously outlined, the City of Chehalis urgently needs a new fire station to supplant the 
existing one built back in 1925, now nearly a century old and deemed unsuitable for essential 
services. Consequently, the City's Fire Department is presently utilizing interim structures 
located at 500 NW Sitka Street. However, these interim facilities lack the necessary 
infrastructure to sustain long-term operations, with limitations in apparatus storage, living 
accommodations, training facilities, and meeting areas. 

In order to determine the potential cost of a new station, it is proposed that the City resume 
the planning process to develop a preliminary design and an initial cost estimate.  This would 
involve a contract with the Architectural Firm of Rice Fergus Miller using funds in the City’s 
Public Facilities Reserve Fund that have been budgeted to accomplish this work in 2024.  

BACKGROUND 

The deliberations on replacing the Fire station have persisted since 1972, spanning over 52 
years. In 2019, the century-old Fire station on Park Street was deemed unsuitable due to 
structural issues and water damage, with a small amount of asbestos found during renovations. 
It was then decided that it was too risky to continue to use the station.  

In 2019, the City entered into a lease agreement with Lewis County Fire District 6 (LCFD #6) to 
share their headquarters, while asbestos remediation was being done. However, in May 2020, 
LCFD #6 notified the City of its intent to terminate the lease in July 2020. As a result, the Fire 
Department was once again relocated, this time to NW Arkansas Way, where staff were 
accommodated in construction trailers and temporary apparatus bays on an emergency basis 
before their eventual relocation to NW Sitka in 2022.  

51



In 2020 the City issued general obligation bond to finance the purchase of land for a new 
structure and the preparation of the site and structures for use as a temporary fire station until 
the permanent fire station could be built.  The title of the Ordinance is as follows:  

 
Ordinance No. 1008-B, First and Final Reading – Providing for the Issuance and Sale of a 
Limited General Obligation Bond Not to Exceed $1.725 Million to Finance the Land Purchase 
and Preparing structures for a temporary facility to use as a Fire Station, until the New 
station could be built. 
 
 

ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES  
 
To initiate the plan to build a new fire station, the City started the search for a firm to assist 
with the preliminary architectural and engineering needed for a project of this magnitude.  The 
City advertised for Engineering and Architectural Services for the new Fire Station Headquarters 
Project in September 2019.   Four firms responded and provided the needed documents, 
including Statements of Qualifications (SOQs). After careful consideration, including interviews 
of both firms, Rice Fergus Miller, Inc., (RFM) was selected and deemed the best fit for the 
Chehalis Fire Station Project based on its approach to the design process and a project team 
that included Gibbs and Olson, an engineering firm that has done good work for the City in the 
past.  The City Council approved the contract with Rice Fergus Miller on March 9, 2020.    
 
The COVID 19 Pandemic was declared just weeks after the City engaged Rice Fergus Miller.  
Then, the need to establish an emergency station became a priority when LCFD #6 ended the 
lease with the City in May of 2020.  Concurrently, the City was in the process of purchasing the 
site at State Avenue and Chamber Way that includes the parcel facing Sitka that is now serving 
as the temporary Chehalis Fire Station. Rice Fergus Miller assisted the City with analysis of 
multiple sites for the emergency station; review of potential sites for the permanent fire 
station; as well as support and analysis associated with the due diligence associated with the 
purchase of the current property at State Avenue and Chamber Way.  
 
PROPOSED CONTRACT RENEWAL 
 
The previous contract awarded to Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. expired, leaving phase 1 of the 
original award incomplete, due to the redirection of RFM’s services to the temporary station 
facility.  
 
In order to complete Phase 1 and initiate the plan to build a new fire station, the City prepared  
a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Engineering and Architectural Services for the new Fire Station 
Headquarters Project in January 2024. With the estimated project amount, we were able 
exercise our option to use minimal competition process, a small public works roster, allowing us 
to consider our previous provider.    
 
The proposed contract with Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. sets the revalidation and completion of 
phase 1 of the original 3 phase project approved in 2020. Phase 1 focuses on the scope of work 
in the contract before the City Council currently.  Contract amendments and funding for Phases 
2 and 3 would be considered after Phase 1 is completed.  The three phases are:  

52



 
• Phase 1 – Station Feasibility, Preliminary Design, and Public Education and 

Outreach 
• Phase 2 – Final Design and Bidding (after funding is secured)  
• Phase 3 – Construction Services 

 
PHASE I – SCOPE OF WORK 
 
More specifically, Phase I services would include: 
 
Task 1: Fire Station Programming Revalidation and Preliminary Design 
 
Rice Fergus Miller previously discussed fire station programming in May of 2022. Since that 
time, and with many changes in leadership, it was determined the revalidation of past 
programming is needed to develop an updated fire station program document. In addition, we 
will reconfirm the suitability of the subject property for the construction of a new fire station.   
 
This program task is supported by two meetings with the Fire Station Committee: 

• In person program revalidation and precedent imagery with design team and Fire 
   station committee. 

• Virtual meeting to review programming updates and review exterior character. 
   Rendering.  

 
The specific tasks associated with Task 1 would include: 

 
• Develop a detailed room-by-room program document. 
• Develop a square footage summary. 
• Preliminary floor plan diagrams. 
• Preliminary site plan diagrams. 
• Prepare exterior character sketch. 

 
Task 2: Cost Estimate and Budgeting  

 
With a committee that includes the Chief, Administrative Assistant and 4 firefighters, RFM 
would facilitate a programming process on a room-by-room, detailed basis for the new fire 
station.  This would include the operational areas, living quarters, Apparatus bays, and support 
spaces, as well as issues such as community access, security concerns, training needs, 
decontamination practices, vehicle washing regulations, and emergency communications.  After 
confirming the square footage needs, RFM would prepare diagrammatic floor plans and site 
plans to confirm the operational layout on the subject property. 
 
Utilizing the program documents, square footage diagrams, sketches and engineering reports, 
the Professional Cost Estimator would develop a detailed cost model for constructing the new 
station.  Anticipated expenses for project soft costs would also be estimated.  This would 
include items such as sales tax, fees for architectural and engineering services, permit fees, 

53



furniture, and equipment. If the total anticipated costs exceed what the City believes the 
funding capacity could support, RFM will undertake a process with the City to rebalance the 
scope of improvements.  Considerations could be given to phasing improvements over time or 
scaling back certain aspects. 
 
The specific tasks associated with Task 2 would include: 

 
• Professional construction cost estimate 
• Overall project budget, including anticipated soft costs. 

 
Task 3: Civil Engineering Deliverables 
 
This task includes assistants with the development planning level opinion and construction cost. 
The engineer will provide planning level opinion of the construction cost for site work, parking 
and access, utilities to include potable and fire supply water, sanitary sewer, storm water, 
natural gas, telecommunications, cable and electrical.  
 
The specific tasks associated with Task 3 would include: 
 

• Existing conditions base map (Gibbs &Olson). 
• Conceptual site development, stormwater, and utilities plan/lot plan with access 

   off adjacent roadways (Gibbs & Olson). 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The total cost for the Phase I portion of the project is anticipated Not-to-Exceed $44,000.00. 
 
This expense was anticipated, and the 2024 Adopted Budget includes $200,000 in the Public 
Facility Reserve for design of the permanent fire station.  
 

Task One: Fire Station Programing and 
Preliminary Design 

$ 20,165.00 

Task Two: Cost Estimate and Budgeting 6,667.81  
Task Three: Civil Engineering 12,628.00 
Total Contract $39,460.81 
Contingency (11.5%) $4,539.19 
TOTAL PROJECT ESTEMATE (PHASE I) $44,000 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council: 
 

• Award the Contract for Engineering and Architectural Services for the Fire Station 
Headquarters Project-phase 1 to Rice Fergus Miller, inc., in the amount of $39,460.81. 

    

54



• It is further recommended that the City Council authorize the addition of a 
contingency of $4,539.19 to address any additional issues that arise that could be 
more cost effectively addressed as part of this contract.  This represents a contingency 
of 11.5% and brings the total Phase I project budget to $44,000. 

 
•  Authorize the City Manager to execute all project related documents, including 

change orders in an amount up to $44,000.00. 
 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council: 
 

• Award the Contract for Engineering and Architectural Services for the Fire Station 
Headquarters Project – Phase I to Rice Fergus Miller, Inc., in the amount of $39,460.81.  

• Authorize a project contingency of $4,539.19; and  
• Authorize the City Manager to execute all project related documents, including change 

orders in an amount up to $44,000.00. 

55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



������������	
��


�����
�
����������������������������������� �����������!"#��!�$%&'()*'$+$,-./.0&1./$23)4.$
)0$5-3(&'.3'67$2.-8&3.7

9:;<=

>

?@?ABCDEFGHIAJKLMANAMLKOPAQCRSTUVWIAXAKYKOZAKYM[ZAKY\]ZAKŶKZAKŶ_ZAKŶ]ZAKY[KZAKY[_ZAKY[[ZAKY[OZAKYOLZAKYO\ZAKYOOZAKY]OZAKYYOZAMLLOÀHaAMLKOPA?bbATUVWIcA
TGcGTdGaPAefWGA?FGTUD̀HA@HcIUIEIGACgA?TDWUIGDIcZhAe?FGTUD̀HA@HcIUIEIGACgA?TDWUIGDIcZhAe?@?ZhAIWGA?@?AiCVCZÀHaAe?@?AQCHIT̀DIABCDEFGHIchÀTGATGVUcIGTGaAIT̀aGF̀ TjcACgA
fWGA?FGTUD̀HA@HcIUIEIGACgA?TDWUIGDIcPAfWUcAaCDEFGHIAk̀ cARTCaEDGaÀIAK_l__lMYAmfACHAL]nM\nMLM_AEHaGTAoTaGTApCP_KL\M_]Y]]AkWUDWAGqRUTGcACHALOnM[nMLM\ZAUcAHCIA
gCTATGc̀bGZAUcAbUDGHcGaAgCTACHGrIUFGAEcGACHbSZÀHaAF̀ SACHbSAsGAEcGaAUHÀDDCTàHDGAkUIWAIWGA?@?AQCHIT̀DIABCDEFGHIctAfGTFcACgAuGTdUDGPAfCATGRCTIADCRSTUVWIAdUCb̀IUCHcZA
GrF̀ UbAaCDUHgCv Ù̀DCHIT̀DIcPDCFP
wxyz{|}<yx~A �Y[M]K]LY[�

�

���9�9�|�{�|�{�����9�|�~{

fWGÀEIWCTACgAIWUcAaCDEFGHIAẀcA

àaGaAUHgCTF̀ IUCHAHGGaGaAgCTAUIcA

DCFRbGIUCHPAfWGÀEIWCTAF̀ SÀbcCA

ẀdGATGdUcGaAIWGAIGqIACgAIWGACTUVUH̀bA

?@?AcÌHàTaAgCTFPA?HA��������������

�����������������IẀIAHCIGcÀaaGaA

UHgCTF̀ IUCHÀcAkGbbÀcATGdUcUCHcAICAIWGA

cÌHàTaAgCTFAIGqIAUcÀd̀Ub̀sbGAgTCFA

IWGÀEIWCTÀHaAcWCEbaAsGATGdUGkGaPA?A

dGTIUD̀bAbUHGAUHAIWGAbGgIAF̀ TVUHACgAIWUcA

aCDEFGHIAUHaUD̀IGcAkWGTGAIWGÀEIWCTA

ẀcÀaaGaAHGDGcc̀TSAUHgCTF̀ IUCHA

H̀aAkWGTGAIWGÀEIWCTAẀcÀaaGaAICACTA

aGbGIGaAgTCFAIWGACTUVUH̀bA?@?AIGqIP

fWUcAaCDEFGHIAẀcAUFRCTÌHIAbGV̀bA

DCHcG�EGHDGcPAQCHcEbÌIUCHAkUIWÀHA

ÌICTHGSAUcAGHDCET̀VGaAkUIWATGcRGDIA

ICAUIcADCFRbGIUCHACTAFCaUgUD̀IUCHP

��������� ¡¢£¤ ¢¥ ¦§ ̈©¤  ª«¤¬̈ ®¦̄°̈© £¢ ¦§  ±̄ ²̄¥̈ ³¬ ̈©¤ ¤¢° ª«¦ ª©¦̄¥¢¬£ 
ª«¤¬̈ ª©°¤¤ 
µ́¶·̧¹º»¼½·¾¶»¾¿ÀÁÂ·»ÀÃ½·Ä¹¶ÁÅ·À¶»·ÃÂÀºÆÇ

	��È��� ̈©¤ ±°É©³̈¤É̈Ê¥ ÉË³¤¬̈ ³£¤¬̈³§³¤£ ¢¥ ̈©¤ Ì«¬¤°Í
Î́ÀÄÂ½·ÏÂÐÀÏ·¼ÁÀÁÑ¼½·À»»ºÂ¼¼·À¶»·¹ÁÅÂº·¾¶Ò¹ºÄÀÁ¾¹¶Ç

Ó³̈ ¦§ Ó©¤©¢Ë³¥    
ÔÕÖ ×¦°̈© Ø¢°Ù¤̈ Ú¦̄Ë¤Û¢°£ 
Ó©¤©¢Ë³¥Ü Ý± ÞßÕÔà  
  

¢¬£ ̈©¤ ±°É©³̈¤É̈Í
Î́ÀÄÂ½·ÏÂÐÀÏ·¼ÁÀÁÑ¼½·À»»ºÂ¼¼·À¶»·¹ÁÅÂº·¾¶Ò¹ºÄÀÁ¾¹¶Ç

á³É¤ ®¤°²̄¥ Ø³ËË¤°Ü â¬Éã    
àäÕ Ṏ© å̈°¤¤̈Ü å̄³̈¤ æÖÖ  
Ú°¤¡¤°̈¦¬Ü Ý± ÞßÔÔä  
ç©¦¬¤ ×̄¡è¤°Í ÔéÖêÔääêßääÔ  

§¦° ̈©¤ §¦ËË¦«³¬² ë©¤°¤³¬¢§̈¤° °¤§¤°°¤£ ̈¦ ¢¥ ì̈©¤ ç°¦í¤É̈ìîÍ
µ́¶¼ÂºÁ·¾¶Ò¹ºÄÀÁ¾¹¶·ºÂÏÀÁÂ»·Á¹·ÁÃïÂ¼·¹Ò·¼Âºð¾¿Â¼½·Ï¹¿ÀÁ¾¹¶½·ÒÀ¿¾Ï¾Á¾Â¼½·¹º·¹ÁÅÂº·»Â¼¿º¾ïÁ¾ðÂ·
¾¶Ò¹ºÄÀÁ¾¹¶·À¼·Àïïº¹ïº¾ÀÁÂÆÇ

 àÖàÔÖéÕãÖÖ Ó©¤©¢Ë³¥ ®³°¤ ñ³¥̈°³É̈ ò ®³°¤ å̈¢̈³¦¬ çË¢¬¬³¬² 
  
  

ª©¤ Ì«¬¤° ¢¬£ ±°É©³̈¤É̈ ¢²°¤¤ ¢¥ §¦ËË¦«¥ã

83



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOPNJQIRSLMT

U JQSVRIMSIWTNQMTXOYTRKRLRIRMTN

Z O[YMQWTNQMTXOYTRKRLRIRMT

\ SOX]QR̂VITNJY_NLRSMYTMT

` SLJRaTNJY_N_RTXbIMT

c IMQaRYJIROYNOQNTbTXMYTROY

d SOaXMYTJIROY

e aRTSMLLJYMObTNXQOfRTROYT

g TXMSRJLNIMQaTNJY_NSOY_RIROYT

h TSOXMNOPNIVMNĴQMMaMYI

JQIRSLMNUNNNJQSVRIMSIWTNQMTXOYTRKRLRIRMT
iNUjUklmnkopqmrsnqsktmuvvkwpxyrznksmnk{xvvx|r}~kwpx{nttrx}uvktnpyrqnt�
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������

k

�� ¡¢£¤¢¥¦§̈¢©ª�ª¦«¬¢§«®§�̄ ¦̄¬®¢°̈±�²¦³�ª¦«¬¢�¬³¢§̈²¦̄¦¬�§́¢µ̈ ¦®¬
¶rqnk·np~̧tk¹rvvnpkwpnyrx̧tvºkzrtq̧ttnzk{rpnktsusrx}kwpx~pu»»r}~k|rsmksmnk¼rsºkx{k¼mnmuvrtkx}k¹uºk½¾¿kÀÁÀÁÂkÃr}qnk
smusksr»n¿ku}zk|rsmkukqmu}~nkr}kvnuznptmrw¿krsk|utkznsnp»r}nzkÄºksmnk¼mnmuvrtk·rpnkÅnwups»n}sksmuskukpnyuvrzusrx}kx{k
wutskwpx~pu»»r}~krtk}nnznzksxkznynvxwku}ķwzusnzk{rpnktsusrx}kwpx~pu»kzxq̧»n}sÂklmrtkwpx~pu»kzxq̧»n}sk|x̧vzk
r}qv̧znktrsnku}zk{vxxpkwvu}kzru~pu»t¿ku}zknÆsnprxpkqmupuqsnpkpn}znpr}~kţrsuÄvnk{xpktmupr}~k|rsmksmnk¼rsºkx{k¼mnmuvrtku}zk
rstkqrsrÇn}tÂkÈutnzkx}k¶·¹Étkr}spxz̧qsxpºk»nnsr}~k|rsmk¼mrn{k·̧vÄpr~msku}zkmrtkqx»»rssnnkx}ko̧ ~̧tsk½¿kÀÁÀÊ¿k|nk
wpxwxtnksmnk{xvvx|r}~ksutËtksxkquppºkx̧sksmnkpnyuvrzusrx}kwpxqnttÂ

lxkţwwxpsksmrtkwpx~pu»»r}~ksutË¿k|nk|rvvk{uqrvrsusnks|xk»nnsr}~tkutk{xvvx|t�

¹nnsr}~k½�kÌ}Íwnptx}kwpx~pu»»r}~kpnyuvrzusrx}ku}zkwpnqnzn}skr»u~npºk|rsmkzntr~}ksnu»¿k¼mrn{k·̧vÄpr~ms¿ku}zk
qx»»rssnnkÎ̧wksxkÊkmx̧ptÏ
¹nnsr}~kÀ�kÐrpşuvk»nnsr}~ksxkpnyrn|kwpx~pu»»r}~ķwzusnt¿ku}zkpnyrn|knÆsnprxpkqmupuqsnpkpn}znpr}~kÎÀkmx̧ptÏk

�� ¡¢£µ̈²¦±̈§�Ñ²̈ ¤
Ò Ånynvxwkukznsurvnzkpxx»ÍÄºÍpxx»kwpx~pu»kzxq̧»n}skÎ¶·¹Ï

Ò ÅnynvxwkuktÓ̧upnk{xxsu~nkţ»»upºkÎ¶·¹Ï

Ò Ôpnvr»r}upºk·vxxpkÔvu}kÅru~pu»tkÎ¶·¹Ï

Ò Ôpnvr»r}upºkÃrsnkÔvu}kÅru~pu»tkÎ¶·¹Ï

Ò ÔpnwupnkÕÆsnprxpk¼mupuqsnpk¶n}znpr}~kÎ¶·¹Ï

�� ¡¢Ö¤¢×« ª¢Ø ª¦̄�ª¦¬®¢�¬³¢ÙÚ³®̈ª¦¬®

ÛsrvrÇr}~kx̧pkwpx~pu»kzxq̧»n}st¿ktÓ̧upnk{xxsu~nkzru~pu»t¿kpn}znpr}~ku}zkn}~r}nnpr}~kpnwxpst¿kx̧pkÔpx{nttrx}uvk¼xtsk
Õtsr»usxpk|x̧vzkznynvxwkukznsurvnzkqxtsk»xznvk{xpkntsr»usr}~ksmnk}n|ktsusrx}Âk·xvvx|r}~ksmnkqx}tsp̧qsrx}kqxtsk
ntsr»usn¿k¶·¹k|x̧vzkqpnusnkukwpxÜnqskÄ̧z~nsk|xpËtmnnsksmuskr}qv̧zntku}srqrwusnzknÆwn}tntkr}qv̧zntkrsn»tkţqmkutktuvntk
suÆ¿k{nntk{xpkupqmrsnqşpuvku}zkn}~r}nnpr}~ktnpyrqnt¿kwnp»rsk{nnt¿k{̧p}rşpn¿ku}zknÓ̧rw»n}sÂkÌ{ksmnkwpxÜnqskqxtsknÆqnnztk
|musksmnk¼rsºkÄnvrnyntksmnrpk{̧}zr}~kquwuqrsºkqx̧vzkţwwxps¿k¶·¹k|rvvķ}znpsuËnkukwpxqnttk|rsmksmnk¼rsºksxkpnÄuvu}qnk

84



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOPKLOQLRSPTOUKSKVIMLQOTLIJKLVKWLQRTKLMIXIROVYLZOVMR[KTXIROVMLNO\][L̂KL_RUKVLIOLPJXMRV_LRSPTOUKSKVIMLOUKTLIRSKL
OTLMNX]RV_L̂XǸLNKTIXRVLXMPKNIMLOQLIJKLQ\I\TKLQRTKLMIXIROVY

aOLM\PPOTILIJRMLIXM̀bLcdeLWR]]LQXNR]RIXIKLOVKLSKKIRV_LXMLQO]]OWMf

eKKIRV_LgfLhRTI\X]LSKKIRV_LIOLTKURKWLPTK]RSRVXTiLNOMILKMIRSXIKLXV[L̂\[_KILRVQOTSXIROVLjgLJO\Tk

lmnopqrpstuvwtxmyutnr

z {TOQKMMROVX]LZOVMIT\NIROVLZOMIL|MIRSXIKLj{TO}RSMk

z ~UKTX]]LPTO�KNIL̂\[_KIbLRVN]\[RV_LXVIRNRPXIK[LMOQILNOMIMLjcdek

lmnop�rp�vwvup���v�ttxv��r

ZRUR]L|V_RVKKTLIOLPTOUR[KLMKTURNKMLVKNKMMXTiLIOLXMMRMILRVL[KUK]OPSKVILOQLXLP]XVVRV_L]KUK]LOPRVROVLOQLNOVMIT\NIROVLNOMIML
QOTLIJKL~WVKT�MLPTOPOMK[LVKWLQRTKLMIXIROVLQXNR]RIiL̂XMK[LOVLXLNOVNKPI\X]LMRIKLP]XVLIOL̂KLPTOUR[K[L̂iLIJKLcRNKLdKT_\ML
eR]]KTYLaJKL|V_RVKKTLWR]]L[KUK]OPLP]XVVRV_L]KUK]LOPRVROVLOQLNOVMIT\NIROVLNOMIMLQOTLMRIKLWOT̀bLPXT̀RV_LXV[LXNNKMMbL
\IR]RIRKMLIOLMKTUKLIJKLQRTKLMIXIROVLQXNR]RIiLRVN]\[RV_LPOIX̂]KLXV[LQRTKLM\PP]iLWXIKTbLMXVRIXTiLMKWKTbLXV[LMIOTSWXIKTYLZOMIML
QOTLX]]LOIJKTL\IR]RIRKMLRVN]\[RV_bL̂\ILVOIL]RSRIK[LIObLVXI\TX]L_XMbLIK]KNOSS\VRNXIROVMbLNX̂]KbLXV[LK]KNITRNX]LWR]]L̂KL
[KUK]OPK[L̂iLOIJKTMYL
~QQMRIKLRSPTOUKSKVIMLQOTLWXIKTbLMKWKTbLMIOTSLXV[LTOX[WXibLRQLTK�\RTK[bLWR]]L̂KLR[KVIRQRK[LXV[LRVN]\[K[LRVLIJKL
|V_RVKKT�MLOPRVROVLOQLNOVMIT\NIROVLNOMIMYL

aJKLRVQOTSXIROVL[KUK]OPK[LRVLIJRMLPTO�KNILWR]]L̂KL\IR]R�K[L̂iLIJKL~WVKTLIOL[KIKTSRVKL̂\[_KIXTiLTK�\RTKSKVIMLQOTL
RSP]KSKVIRV_LIJKL[KMRTK[LRSPTOUKSKVIMY

lmnop�rp�vwvup���v�ttxv��pstuvwtxmyutnr

z |�RMIRV_LNOV[RIROVML̂XMKLSXPLj�R̂̂ L�L~]MOVk

z ZOVNKPI\X]LMRIKL[KUK]OPSKVIbLMIOTSWXIKTLXV[L\IR]RIRKMLP]XV�]OILP]XVLWRIJLXNNKMMLOQQLX[�XNKVILTOX[WXiMLj�R̂̂ ML

�L~]MOVk

LL

�������LaJKL�TNJRIKNILTKPTKMKVIMLIJXILRILRMLPTOPKT]iL]RNKVMK[LRVLIJKL�\TRM[RNIROVLWJKTKLIJKL{TO�KNILRML]ONXIK[LIOLPTOUR[KL
IJKLMKTURNKMLTK�\RTK[L̂iLIJRML�_TKKSKVIbLOTLMJX]]LNX\MKLM\NJLMKTURNKMLIOL̂KLPKTQOTSK[L̂iLXPPTOPTRXIK]iL]RNKVMK[L[KMR_VL
PTOQKMMROVX]MY

�����LaJKL�TNJRIKNILMJX]]LPKTQOTSLRIMLMKTURNKMLNOVMRMIKVILWRIJLIJKLPTOQKMMROVX]LM̀R]]LXV[LNXTKLOT[RVXTR]iLPTOUR[K[L̂iL
XTNJRIKNIMLPTXNIRNRV_LRVLIJKLMXSKLOTLMRSR]XTL]ONX]RIiL\V[KTLIJKLMXSKLOTLMRSR]XTLNRTN\SMIXVNKMYLaJKL�TNJRIKNILMJX]]L
PKTQOTSLRIMLMKTURNKMLXMLK�PK[RIRO\M]iLXMLRMLNOVMRMIKVILWRIJLM\NJLPTOQKMMROVX]LM̀R]]LXV[LNXTKLXV[LIJKLOT[KT]iLPTO_TKMMLOQL
IJKL{TO�KNIYL

�����LaJKL�TNJRIKNILR[KVIRQRKMLIJKLQO]]OWRV_LTKPTKMKVIXIRUKLX\IJOTR�K[LIOLXNILOVL̂KJX]QLOQLIJKL�TNJRIKNILWRIJLTKMPKNILIOL
IJKL{TO�KNIY
������������������������� �¡���¢ ���¢����£ ����� �¤¥

�\VVTL�]X[RNMbL{TRVNRPX]LL
¦OWXT[L§IT\UKbL{TO�KNILeXVX_KTLL
LcRNKLdKT_\MLeR]]KTbL̈VNYLLLL
©ª«L«IJL§ITKKIbL§\RIKLg¬¬LL
TKSKTIOVbL®�L̄°±±ªLL
{JOVKL²\Ŝ KTfL±³¬́±ªª́°ªª±LLLL
KSXR]MfL__]X[RNMµTQSXTNJYNOS¶JMIT\UKµTQSXTNJYNOSLL
LL
LL

85



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMJNOPQRSTUVSWTSWQTXUYQZ[\T]ŶU_Q̀aQTbỲTP̂Y\QYScTSWQTdZPWVSQPST\Wb__TŶSTQYabaQTVYTbYeTbPSVfVSecT̂ZTbPPQRSTbYeT
QgR_̂egQYScTVYSQZQ\ST̂ZTP̂YSZVhiSV̂YTSWbSTÛi_̀TZQb\̂Ybh_eTbRRQbZTŜTP̂gRẐgV\QTSWQTdZPWVSQPS[\TRẐjQ\\V̂Yb_T
kìagQYSTUVSWTZQ\RQPSTŜTSWV\TlẐkQPSm

IJKLnJoWQTdZPWVSQPST\Wb__TgbVYSbVYTSWQTĵ__̂UVYaTVY\iZbYPQTiYSV_TSQZgVYbSV̂YT̂jTSWV\TdaZQQgQYSmTpjTbYeT̂jTSWQT
ZQqiVZQgQYS\T\QSTĵZSWThQ_̂UTbZQTVYTb̀ V̀SV̂YTŜTSWQTSeRQ\TbỲT_VgVS\TSWQTdZPWVSQPSTŶZgb__eTgbVYSbVY\cTSWQTXUYQZT\Wb__T
RbeTSWQTdZPWVSQPSTb\T\QSTĵZSWTVYTrQPSV̂YTsmtmum

IJKLnLKJv̂ggQZPVb_TwQYQZb_TxVbhV_VSeTUVSWTR̂_VPeT_VgVS\T̂jTŶST_Q\\TSWbYTTSÛTgV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTyzTtc{{{c{{{T|TĵZTQbPWT
P̂PiZZQYPQTbỲTĵiZTgV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTTyzTt}{{{c{{{T|TVYTSWQTbaaZQabSQTĵZTĥ V̀_eTVYkiZeTbỲTRẐRQZSeT̀bgbaQm

IJKLnL~JdiŜĝ hV_QTxVbhV_VSeTP̂fQZVYaTfQWVP_Q\T̂UYQ̀cTbỲTŶY�̂UYQ̀TfQWVP_Q\Ti\Q̀cTheTSWQTdZPWVSQPSTUVSWTR̂_VPeT
_VgVS\T̂jTŶST_Q\\TSWbYT̂YQTgV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTTyzT�c{{{c{{{TTT|TRQZTbPPV̀QYSTĵZTĥ V̀_eTVYkiZecT̀QbSWT̂jTbYeTRQZ\̂YcTbỲT
RẐRQZSeT̀bgbaQTbZV\VYaT̂iST̂jTSWQT̂UYQZ\WVRcTgbVYSQYbYPQTbỲTi\QT̂jTSŴ\QTĝ ŜZTfQWVP_Q\cTb_̂YaTUVSWTbYeT̂SWQZT
\SbSiŜZV_eTZQqiVZQ̀TbiŜĝ hV_QTP̂fQZbaQm

IJKLnL�JoWQTdZPWVSQPSTgbeTbPWVQfQTSWQTZQqiVZQ̀T_VgVS\TbỲTP̂fQZbaQTĵZTv̂ggQZPVb_TwQYQZb_TxVbhV_VSeTbỲTdiŜĝ hV_QT
xVbhV_VSeTSWẐiaWTbTP̂ghVYbSV̂YT̂jTRZVgbZeTbỲTQOPQ\\T̂ZTighZQ__bT_VbhV_VSeTVY\iZbYPQcTRẐfV̀Q̀T\iPWTRZVgbZeTbỲT
QOPQ\\T̂ZTighZQ__bT_VbhV_VSeTVY\iZbYPQTR̂_VPVQ\TZQ\i_STVYTSWQT\bgQT̂ZTaZQbSQZTP̂fQZbaQTb\TSWQTP̂fQZbaQ\TZQqiVZQ̀TiỲQZT
rQPSV̂Y\T�m�m�TbỲT�m�mtcTbỲTVYTŶTQfQYST\Wb__TbYeTQOPQ\\T̂ZTighZQ__bT_VbhV_VSeTVY\iZbYPQTRẐfV̀QTYbZẐUQZTP̂fQZbaQT
SWbYTSWQTRZVgbZeTR̂_VPemToWQTQOPQ\\TR̂_VPeT\Wb__TŶSTZQqiVZQTSWQTQOWbi\SV̂YT̂jTSWQTiỲQZ_eVYaT_VgVS\T̂Y_eTSWẐiaWTSWQT
bPSib_TRbegQYSTheTSWQTiỲQZ_eVYaTVY\iZQZ\m

IJKLnLMJ� Ẑ]QZ\[Tv̂gRQY\bSV̂YTbST\SbSiŜZeT_VgVS\m

IJKLnLnJNgR_̂eQZ\[TxVbhV_VSeTUVSWTR̂_VPeT_VgVS\TŶST_Q\\TSWbYT̂YQTgV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTTyzT�c{{{c{{{TTT|TQbPWTbPPV̀QYScTT̂YQT
gV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTyzTT�c{{{c{{{TT|TQbPWTQgR_̂eQQcTbỲT̂YQTgV__V̂YT̀̂ __bZ\TTTyzTT�c{{{c{{{TT|TR̂_VPeT_VgVSm

IJKLnL�JlẐjQ\\V̂Yb_TxVbhV_VSeTP̂fQZVYaTYQa_VaQYSTbPS\cTQZẐZ\TbỲT̂gV\\V̂Y\TVYTSWQTRQZĵZgbYPQT̂jTRẐjQ\\V̂Yb_T\QZfVPQ\T
UVSWTR̂_VPeT_VgVS\T̂jTŶST_Q\\TSWbYTjVfQTgV__V̂YT̀̂__bZ\TTTyzT�c{{{c{{{TTT|TRQZTP_bVgTbỲTjVfQTgV__V̂YT̀̂__bZ\TTTyzT�c{{{c{{{TTT
|TVYTSWQTbaaZQabSQm

IJKLnL�J����������J�������J�����������LTpjTZQqiQ\SQ̀TheTSWQTXUYQZcTŜTSWQTji__Q\STQOSQYSTRQZgVSSQ̀TheT_bUcTSWQTdZPWVSQPST
\Wb__TPbi\QTSWQTRZVgbZeTbỲTQOPQ\\T̂ZTighZQ__bTR̂_VPQ\TĵZTv̂ggQZPVb_TwQYQZb_TxVbhV_VSeTbỲTdiŜĝ hV_QTxVbhV_VSeTŜT
VYP_ìQTSWQTXUYQZTb\TbYTb̀ V̀SV̂Yb_TVY\iZQ̀TĵZTP_bVg\TPbi\Q̀TVYTUŴ_QT̂ZTVYTRbZSTheTSWQTdZPWVSQPS[\TYQa_VaQYSTbPS\T̂ZT
ĝV\\V̂Y\mToWQTb̀ V̀SV̂Yb_TVY\iZQ̀TP̂fQZbaQT\Wb__ThQTRZVgbZeTbỲTŶY�P̂YSZVhiŜZeTŜTbYeT̂jTSWQTXUYQZ[\TVY\iZbYPQT
R̂_VPVQ\TbỲT\Wb__TbRR_eTŜTĥSWT̂YâVYaTbỲTP̂gR_QSQ̀T̂RQZbSV̂Y\m

IJKLnL�ToWQTdZPWVSQPST\Wb__TRẐfV̀QTPQZSVjVPbSQ\T̂jTVY\iZbYPQTŜTSWQTXUYQZTSWbSTQfV̀QYPQTP̂gR_VbYPQTUVSWTSWQT
ZQqiVZQgQYS\TVYTSWV\TrQPSV̂YT�m�m

�������J~JJJ�������J��� ����¡�������
IJ~LKT¢Y_Q\\T̂SWQZUV\QTRẐfV̀Q̀TĵZTiỲQZTSWV\TdaZQQgQYScTSWQTXUYQZT\Wb__TRẐfV̀QTVYĵZgbSV̂YTVYTbTSVgQ_eTgbYYQZT
ZQabZ̀VYaTZQqiVZQgQYS\TĵZTbỲT_VgVSbSV̂Y\T̂YTSWQTlẐkQPScTVYP_ìVYaTbTUZVSSQYTRẐaZbgcTUWVPWT\Wb__T\QSTĵZSWTSWQT
XUYQZ[\T̂hkQPSVfQ\£T\PWQ̀i_Q£TP̂Y\SZbVYS\TbỲTPZVSQZVbcTVYP_ìVYaT\RbPQTZQqiVZQgQYS\TbỲTZQ_bSV̂Y\WVR\£Tj_QOVhV_VSe£T
QORbỲbhV_VSe£T\RQPVb_TQqiVRgQYS£T\e\SQg\£TbỲT\VSQTZQqiVZQgQYS\m

IJ~L~ToWQTXUYQZTV̀QYSVjVQ\TSWQTĵ__̂UVYaTZQRZQ\QYSbSVfQTbiSŴZV¤Q̀TŜTbPST̂YTSWQTXUYQZ[\ThQWb_jTUVSWTZQ\RQPSTŜTSWQT
lẐkQPSmToWQTXUYQZT\Wb__TZQỲQZT̀QPV\V̂Y\TbỲTbRRẐfQTSWQTdZPWVSQPS[\T\ihgVSSb_\TVYTbTSVgQ_eTgbYYQZTVYT̂Z̀QZTŜTbf̂V̀T
iYZQb\̂Ybh_QT̀Q_beTVYTSWQT̂Z̀QZ_eTbỲT\QqiQYSVb_TRẐaZQ\\T̂jTSWQTdZPWVSQPS[\T\QZfVPQ\m
¥¦§̈©ª«¬®̄ª¬°°±®̈̈ ª̄¬«°ª²©³®±ª́²«©¬́©ª§«µ²±¬©§²«¶·

ŢV__TdỲQZ\̂YcTvVSeT¹bYbaQZT
TvVSeT̂jTvWQWb_V\TTTT
u�{Tº̂ZSWT¹bZ]QST»̂i_QfbZ̀T
vWQWb_V\cT�dT¼½�utTTTT

86



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOIIPQRSPTUSVRTWI

XYZ[\I]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccIdLL̀efMbgNIgKNIaǸhfdNaILiIfgaIL_MIdLMajcgbMgaI_fgKIgKLaNIaǸhfdNaIk̀LhfeNeIlmIgKNIǹdKfgNdgoI
pkLMIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaÌNrjNagsIgKNÎ_MǸIaKbccIij̀MfaKIdLkfNaILiIgKNIadLkNILiIaǸhfdNaIfMIgKNIdLMg̀bdgaIlNg_NNMIgKNI
_̂MǸIbMeIgKNÎ_MǸqaIdLMajcgbMgaoI]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccIij̀MfaKIgKNIaǸhfdNaILiIdLMajcgbMgaILgKǸIgKbMIgKLaNIeNaftMbgNeIbaI
gKNÌNakLMaflfcfgmILiIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIfMIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgsIL̀IbjgKL̀fvNIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIgLIij̀MfaKIgKNuIbaIbMIneefgfLMbcI
wǸhfdNsI_KNMIgKNIǹdKfgNdgÌNrjNagaIajdKIaǸhfdNaIbMeIeNuLMag̀bgNaIgKbgIgKNmIb̀NÌNbaLMblcmÌNrjf̀NeIlmIgKNIadLkNILiI
gKNIJ̀LxNdgoI]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccÌNrjf̀NIgKbgIfgaIdLMajcgbMgaIbMeIdLMg̀bdgL̀aIubfMgbfMIfMaj̀bMdNsIfMdcjefMtIk̀LiNaafLMbcI
cfblfcfgmIfMaj̀bMdNsIbaIbkk̀Lk̀fbgNIgLIgKNIaǸhfdNaIL̀I_L̀yIk̀LhfeNeo

XYZ[zI]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccIij̀MfaKIbccIcNtbcsIfMaj̀bMdNIbMeIbddLjMgfMtIaǸhfdNasIfMdcjefMtIbjefgfMtIaǸhfdNasIgKbgIubmIlNI
ǸbaLMblcmIMNdNaab̀mIbgIbMmIgfuNIiL̀IgKNIJ̀LxNdgIgLIuNNgIgKNÎ_MǸqaIMNNeaIbMeIfMgǸNagao

XYZ[{I]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccIk̀LhfeNIk̀LukgI_̀fggNMIMLgfdNIgLIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIfiIgKNÎ_MǸIlNdLuNaIb_b̀NILiIbMmIibjcgIL̀I
eNiNdgIfMIgKNIJ̀LxNdgsIfMdcjefMtIǸ̀L̀asILufaafLMaIL̀IfMdLMafagNMdfNaIfMIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNo

XYZ[}I~fgKfMIVUIebmaIbigǸÌNdNfkgILiIbI_̀fggNMÌNrjNagIìLuIgKNIǹdKfgNdgsIgKNÎ_MǸIaKbccIij̀MfaKIgKNÌNrjNagNeI
fMiL̀ubgfLMIbaIMNdNaab̀mIbMeÌNcNhbMgIiL̀IgKNIǹdKfgNdgIgLINhbcjbgNsItfhNIMLgfdNILisIL̀INMiL̀dNIcfNMÌftKgao

�������Y\YYY����������Y���Y��������
XY\[�I]KNIǹdKfgNdgIbMeIgKNÎ_MǸI_b̀̀bMgIgKbgIfMIg̀bMaufggfMtI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNsIL̀IbMmILgKǸIfMiL̀ubgfLMsIgKNI
g̀bMaufggfMtIkb̀gmIfaIgKNIdLkm̀ftKgIL_MǸILiIajdKIfMiL̀ubgfLMIL̀IKbaIkǸufaafLMIìLuIgKNIdLkm̀ftKgIL_MǸIgLIg̀bMaufgI
ajdKIfMiL̀ubgfLMIiL̀IfgaIjaNILMIgKNIJ̀LxNdgo

XY\[ZI]KNIǹdKfgNdgIbMeIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaIdLMajcgbMgaIaKbccIlNIeNNuNeIgKNIbjgKL̀aIbMeIL_MǸaILiIgKNf̀ÌNakNdgfhNI
|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNsIfMdcjefMtIgKNI�̀b_fMtaIbMeIwkNdfifdbgfLMasIbMeIaKbccÌNgbfMIbccIdLuuLMIcb_sIagbgjgL̀mIbMeI
LgKǸÌNaǸhNeÌftKgasIfMdcjefMtIdLkm̀ftKgaoIwjlufaafLMIL̀Iefag̀fljgfLMILiI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNIgLIuNNgILiifdfbcI
ǸtjcbgL̀mÌNrjf̀NuNMgaIL̀IiL̀Iafufcb̀Ikj̀kLaNaIfMIdLMMNdgfLMI_fgKIgKNIJ̀LxNdgIfaIMLgIgLIlNIdLMag̀jNeIbaIkjlcfdbgfLMIfMI
eǸLtbgfLMILiIgKNÌNaǸhNeÌftKgaILiIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIbMeIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaIdLMajcgbMgao

XY\[\I]KNIǹdKfgNdgIt̀bMgaIgLIgKNÎ_MǸIbIMLMN�dcjafhNIcfdNMaNIgLIjaNIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNIaLcNcmIbMeI
N�dcjafhNcmIiL̀IgKNIkj̀kLaNaILiINhbcjbgfMtsIdLMag̀jdgfMtsIjafMtsIubfMgbfMfMtsIbcgǸfMtIbMeIbeefMtIgLIgKNIJ̀LxNdgsI
k̀LhfeNeIgKbgIgKNÎ_MǸIajlagbMgfbccmIkǸiL̀uaIfgaILlcftbgfLMaIjMeǸIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgsIfMdcjefMtIk̀LukgIkbmuNMgILiIbccI
ajuaIejNIkj̀ajbMgIgLIǹgfdcNIUIbMeIǹgfdcNIQoI]KNIǹdKfgNdgIaKbccILlgbfMIafufcb̀IMLMN�dcjafhNIcfdNMaNaIìLuIgKNI
ǹdKfgNdgqaIdLMajcgbMgaIdLMafagNMgI_fgKIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgoI]KNIcfdNMaNIt̀bMgNeIjMeǸIgKfaIaNdgfLMIkǸufgaIgKNÎ_MǸIgLI
bjgKL̀fvNIgKNI�LMg̀bdgL̀sIwjldLMg̀bdgL̀asIwjlSajldLMg̀bdgL̀asIbMeIajkkcfǸasIbaI_NccIbaIgKNÎ_MǸqaIdLMajcgbMgaIbMeI
aNkb̀bgNIdLMg̀bdgL̀asIgLÌNk̀LejdNIbkkcfdblcNIkL̀gfLMaILiIgKNI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNIaLcNcmIbMeIN�dcjafhNcmIiL̀IjaNIfMI
kǸiL̀ufMtIaǸhfdNaIL̀IdLMag̀jdgfLMIiL̀IgKNIJ̀LxNdgoI|iIgKNIǹdKfgNdgÌftKgijccmIgǸufMbgNaIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgIiL̀IdbjaNIbaI
k̀LhfeNeIfMIwNdgfLMIUoTsIgKNIcfdNMaNIt̀bMgNeIfMIgKfaIwNdgfLMIPoPIaKbccIgǸufMbgNo

XY\[\[�I|MIgKNINhNMgIgKNÎ_MǸIjaNaIgKNI|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNI_fgKLjgÌNgbfMfMtIgKNIbjgKL̀aILiIgKNI|Mag̀juNMgaILiI
wǸhfdNsIgKNÎ_MǸÌNcNbaNaIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIbMeIǹdKfgNdgqaIdLMajcgbMg�a�IìLuIbccIdcbfuaIbMeIdbjaNaILiIbdgfLMIb̀fafMtI
ìLuIajdKIjaNaoI]KNÎ_MǸsIgLIgKNIN�gNMgIkǸufggNeIlmIcb_sIij̀gKǸIbt̀NNaIgLIfMeNuMfimIbMeIKLceIKb̀ucNaaIgKNI
ǹdKfgNdgIbMeIfgaIdLMajcgbMgaIìLuIbccIdLagaIbMeIN�kNMaNasIfMdcjefMtIgKNIdLagILiIeNiNMaNsÌNcbgNeIgLIdcbfuaIbMeIdbjaNaILiI
bdgfLMIbaaǸgNeIlmIbMmIgKf̀eIkǸaLMIL̀INMgfgmIgLIgKNIN�gNMgIajdKIdLagaIbMeIN�kNMaNaIb̀faNIìLuIgKNÎ_MǸqaIjaNILiIgKNI
|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNIjMeǸIgKfaIwNdgfLMIPoPoVoI]KNIgǸuaILiIgKfaIwNdgfLMIPoPoVIaKbccIMLgIbkkcmIfiIgKNÎ_MǸÌftKgijccmI
gǸufMbgNaIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgIiL̀IdbjaNIjMeǸIwNdgfLMIUoTo

XY\[zI��dNkgIiL̀IgKNIcfdNMaNaIt̀bMgNeIfMIgKfaIǹgfdcNIPsIMLILgKǸIcfdNMaNIL̀ÌftKgIaKbccIlNIeNNuNeIt̀bMgNeIL̀IfukcfNeI
jMeǸIgKfaInt̀NNuNMgoI]KNÎ_MǸIaKbccIMLgIbaaftMsIeNcNtbgNsIajlcfdNMaNsIkcNetNIL̀ILgKǸ_faNIg̀bMaiǸIbMmIcfdNMaNI
t̀bMgNeIKǸNfMIgLIbMLgKǸIkb̀gmI_fgKLjgIgKNIk̀fL̀I_̀fggNMIbt̀NNuNMgILiIgKNIǹdKfgNdgoInMmIjMbjgKL̀fvNeIjaNILiIgKNI
|Mag̀juNMgaILiIwǸhfdNIaKbccIlNIbgIgKNÎ_MǸqaIaLcNÌfayIbMeI_fgKLjgIcfblfcfgmIgLIgKNIǹdKfgNdgIbMeIgKNIǹdKfgNdgqaI
dLMajcgbMgao

XY\[{I��dNkgIbaILgKǸ_faNIagbgNeIfMIwNdgfLMIPoPsIgKNIk̀LhfafLMaILiIgKfaIǹgfdcNIPIaKbccIaj̀hfhNIgKNIgǸufMbgfLMILiIgKfaI
nt̀NNuNMgo

87



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOPQPPPMNILRSPITUPULSVWKOS
XPQYZP[\]\̂_̀
XPQYZYZabcdaefgdhaigjakhlcmndlnaocippalqrrdgldaippalpimroaigjalisodoaqtailnmqgaiuimgonancdaqncdhaigjaihmomguaqsnaqtaqha
hdpindjanqancmoakuhddrdgnvafcdncdhamgalqgnhilnvanqhnvaqhaqncdhfmodvamgaillqhjigldafmncancdahdwsmhdrdgnoaqtancdaxmgjmgua
jmoysndahdoqpsnmqgardncqjaodpdlndjamgancmoakuhddrdgnaigjafmncmgancdaydhmqjaoydlmtmdjaxzaiyypmlixpdapifvaxsnamgaigzalioda
gqnarqhdanciga{|azdihoaitndhancdajindaqta}sxonignmipa~qrypdnmqgaqtancda�qh��abcdaefgdhaigjakhlcmndlnafim�daippa
lpimroaigjalisodoaqtailnmqgagqnalqrrdgldjamgaillqhjigldafmncancmoa}dlnmqga��{�{�

XPQYZY�abqancdad�ndgnajiriudoaihdalq�dhdjaxzayhqydhnzamgoshigldvancdaefgdhaigjakhlcmndlnafim�daippahmucnoaiuimgona
dilcaqncdhaigjaiuimgonancdalqgnhilnqhovalqgospnignovaiudgnovaigjadrypqzddoaqtancdaqncdhatqhajiriudovad�ldynaoslcahmucnoa
ioancdzarizaci�danqancdayhqlddjoaqtaoslcamgoshigldaioaodnatqhncamgak�ka�qlsrdgnak�|{��|{�va�dgdhipa~qgjmnmqgoaqta
ncda~qgnhilnatqha~qgonhslnmqg�abcdaefgdhaqhancdakhlcmndlnvaioaiyyhqyhmindvaocippahdwsmhdaqtancdalqgnhilnqhovalqgospnignova
iudgnovaigjadrypqzddoaqtaigzaqtancdrvaomrmpihafim�dhoamgati�qhaqtancdaqncdhayihnmdoadgsrdhindjacdhdmg�

XPQYZY�abcdakhlcmndlnaigjaefgdhafim�dalqgodwsdgnmipajiriudoatqhalpimrovajmoysndovaqhaqncdharinndhoamgawsdonmqgva
ihmomguaqsnaqtaqhahdpinmguanqancmoakuhddrdgn�abcmoarsnsipafim�dhamoaiyypmlixpdvafmncqsnapmrmninmqgvanqaippalqgodwsdgnmipa
jiriudoajsdanqadmncdhayihnz�oandhrmginmqgaqtancmoakuhddrdgnvad�ldynaioaoydlmtmlippzayhq�mjdjamga}dlnmqga����

XPQY�PR\��_���]
XPQY�YZakgzalpimrvajmoysndaqhaqncdharinndhamgawsdonmqgaihmomguaqsnaqtaqhahdpindjanqancmoakuhddrdgnaocippaxdaosx�dlnanqa
rdjminmqgaioaialqgjmnmqgayhdldjdgnanqaxmgjmguajmoysndahdoqpsnmqg�a�taoslcarinndhahdpindoanqaqhamoancdaosx�dlnaqtaiapmdga
ihmomguaqsnaqtancdakhlcmndln�oaodh�mldovancdakhlcmndlnarizayhqlddjamgaillqhjigldafmncaiyypmlixpdapifanqalqrypzafmncancda
pmdgagqnmldaqhatmpmguajdijpmgdoayhmqhanqahdoqpsnmqgaqtancdarinndhaxzardjminmqgaqhaxzaxmgjmguajmoysndahdoqpsnmqg�

XPQY�Y�abcdaefgdhaigjakhlcmndlnaocippadgjdi�qhanqahdoqp�dalpimrovajmoysndoaigjaqncdharinndhoamgawsdonmqgaxdnfddga
ncdraxzardjminmqgvafcmlcvasgpdooancdayihnmdoarsnsippzaiuhddaqncdhfmodvaocippaxdaijrmgmondhdjaxzancdakrdhmliga
khxmnhinmqgakooqlminmqgamgaillqhjigldafmncamnoa~qgonhslnmqga�gjsonhza�djminmqga�hqldjshdoamgadttdlnaqgancdajindaqtancmoa
kuhddrdgn�akahdwsdonatqhardjminmqgaocippaxdarijdamgafhmnmguvajdpm�dhdjanqancdaqncdhayihnzanqancmoakuhddrdgnvaigjatmpdja
fmncancdaydhoqgaqhadgnmnzaijrmgmondhmguancdardjminmqg�abcdahdwsdonarizaxdarijdalqglshhdgnpzafmncancdatmpmguaqtaia
lqrypimgnaqhaqncdhaiyyhqyhmindajdrigjatqhaxmgjmguajmoysndahdoqpsnmqgaxsnvamgaoslcad�dgnvardjminmqgaocippayhqlddjamga
ij�igldaqtaxmgjmguajmoysndahdoqpsnmqgayhqlddjmguovafcmlcaocippaxdaonizdjaydgjmguardjminmqgatqhaiaydhmqjaqta�|ajizoa
thqrancdajindaqtatmpmguvasgpdooaonizdjatqhaiapqgudhaydhmqjaxzaiuhddrdgnaqtancdayihnmdoaqhalqshnaqhjdh�a�taigaihxmnhinmqga
yhqlddjmguamoaonizdjayshosignanqancmoaodlnmqgvancdayihnmdoarizagqgdncdpdooayhqlddjanqancdaodpdlnmqgaqtancdaihxmnhinqh�o�a
igjaiuhddasyqgaiaolcdjspdatqhapindhayhqlddjmguo�

XPQY�Y�abcdayihnmdoaocippaocihdancdardjminqh�oatddaigjaigzatmpmguatddoadwsippz�abcdardjminmqgaocippaxdacdpjamgancdaypilda
fcdhdancda�hq�dlnamoapqlindjvasgpdooaigqncdhapqlinmqgamoarsnsippzaiuhddjasyqg�akuhddrdgnoahdilcdjamgardjminmqgaocippa
xdadgtqhldixpdaioaodnnpdrdgnaiuhddrdgnoamgaigzalqshnaci�mgua�shmojmlnmqgancdhdqt�

XPQY�YQa�tancdayihnmdoajqagqnahdoqp�daiajmoysndanchqsucardjminmqgayshosignanqancmoa}dlnmqga���vancdardncqjaqtaxmgjmgua
jmoysndahdoqpsnmqgaocippaxdancdatqppqfmgu�
������ ¡�� ¢££¤¥£¤¦¢¡� §¥̈©ª

«�PP�¬ khxmnhinmqgayshosignanqa}dlnmqga��aqtancmoakuhddrdgn

«�®PP�¬ m̄nmuinmqgamgaialqshnaqtalqrydndgna�shmojmlnmqg

«�PP�¬ encdha�°£��¦±²ª

aa

�³¢¤¢́¤¢£�µ ¶�·�¡�¶ª
IJKLMNOP̧PPPKOJRLTIKL¹TP¹JPSWSVOTSL¹T
XP̧YZa�tancdaefgdhatimpoanqari�dayizrdgnoanqancdakhlcmndlnamgaillqhjigldafmncancmoakuhddrdgnvaoslcatimpshdaocippaxda
lqgomjdhdjaosxonignmipagqgydhtqhrigldaigjalisodatqhandhrmginmqgaqhvainancdakhlcmndln�oaqynmqgvalisodatqhaosoydgomqgaqta
ydhtqhrigldaqtaodh�mldoasgjdhancmoakuhddrdgn�a�tancdakhlcmndlnadpdlnoanqaosoydgjaodh�mldovancdakhlcmndlnaocippaum�da
od�dgajizo�afhmnndgagqnmldanqancdaefgdhaxdtqhdaosoydgjmguaodh�mldo�a�gancdad�dgnaqtaiaosoydgomqgaqtaodh�mldovancda

88



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOKNPQLRSSPLRTOPUVPSMRWMSMNXPNVPNLOPYZUOJP[VJP\OSRXPVJP\R]R̂OPKR_QO\PNLOPYZUOJPWOKR_QOPV[PQ_KLPQ_Q̀OUQMVUPV[P
QOJTMKOQaPbO[VJOPJOQ_]MÛPQOJTMKOQcPNLOPYZUOJPQLRSSP̀RXPNLOPIJKLMNOKNPRSSPQ_]QP\_OP̀JMVJPNVPQ_Q̀OUQMVUPRU\PRUXP
Od̀OUQOQPMUK_JJO\PMUPNLOPMUNOJJ_̀NMVUPRU\PJOQ_]̀ NMVUPV[PNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPQOJTMKOQaPfLOPIJKLMNOKNeQP[OOQP[VJPNLOP
JO]RMUMÛPQOJTMKOQPRU\PNLOPNM]OPQKLO\_SOQPQLRSSPWOPOg_MNRWSXPR\h_QNO\a

ijklmPn[PNLOPYZUOJPQ_Q̀OU\QPNLOPoJVhOKNcPNLOPIJKLMNOKNPQLRSSPWOPKV]̀ OUQRNO\P[VJPQOJTMKOQP̀OJ[VJ]O\P̀JMVJPNVPUVNMKOPV[P
Q_KLPQ_Q̀OUQMVUaPpLOUPNLOPoJVhOKNPMQPJOQ_]O\cPNLOPIJKLMNOKNPQLRSSPWOPKV]̀ OUQRNO\P[VJPOd̀OUQOQPMUK_JJO\PMUPNLOP
MUNOJJ_̀NMVUPRU\PJOQ_]̀ NMVUPV[PNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPQOJTMKOQaPfLOPIJKLMNOKNeQP[OOQP[VJPNLOPJO]RMUMÛPQOJTMKOQPRU\PNLOPNM]OP
QKLO\_SOQPQLRSSPWOPOg_MNRWSXPR\h_QNO\a

ijklqPn[PNLOPYZUOJPQ_Q̀OU\QPNLOPoJVhOKNP[VJP]VJOPNLRUPrsPK_]_SRNMTOP\RXQP[VJPJORQVUQPVNLOJPNLRUPNLOP[R_SNPV[PNLOP
IJKLMNOKNcPNLOPIJKLMNOKNP]RXPNOJ]MURNOPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNPWXP̂MTMÛPUVNPSOQQPNLRUPQOTOUP\RXQePZJMNNOUPUVNMKOaP

ijkltPuMNLOJP̀RJNXP]RXPNOJ]MURNOPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP_̀VUPUVNPSOQQPNLRUPQOTOUP\RXQePZJMNNOUPUVNMKOPQLV_S\PNLOPVNLOJP̀RJNXP
[RMSPQ_WQNRUNMRSSXPNVP̀OJ[VJ]PMUPRKKVJ\RUKOPZMNLPNLOPNOJ]QPV[PNLMQPÎJOO]OUNPNLJV_̂LPUVP[R_SNPV[PNLOP̀RJNXPMUMNMRNMÛPNLOP
NOJ]MURNMVUa

ijklkPfLOPYZUOJP]RXPNOJ]MURNOPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP_̀VUPUVNPSOQQPNLRUPQOTOUP\RXQePZJMNNOUPUVNMKOPNVPNLOPIJKLMNOKNP[VJPNLOP
YZUOJeQPKVUTOUMOUKOPRU\PZMNLV_NPKR_QOa

ijklvPn[PNLOPYZUOJPNOJ]MURNOQPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP[VJPMNQPKVUTOUMOUKOP̀_JQ_RUNPNVPwOKNMVUPxaxcPVJPNLOPIJKLMNOKNPNOJ]MURNOQP
NLMQPÎJOO]OUNP̀_JQ_RUNPNVPwOKNMVUPxaycPNLOPYZUOJPQLRSSPKV]̀ OUQRNOPNLOPIJKLMNOKNP[VJPQOJTMKOQP̀OJ[VJ]O\P̀JMVJPNVP
NOJ]MURNMVUcPzOM]W_JQRWSOPud̀OUQOQPMUK_JJO\cPRU\PKVQNQPRNNJMW_NRWSOPNVPNOJ]MURNMVUcPMUKS_\MÛPNLOPKVQNQPRNNJMW_NRWSOPNVP
NLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPNOJ]MURNMVUPV[PKVUQ_SNRUNPR̂JOO]OUNQa

ijkl{PnUPR\\MNMVUPNVPRUXPR]V_UNQP̀RM\P_U\OJPwOKNMVUPxa|cPM[PNLOPYZUOJPNOJ]MURNOQPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP[VJPMNQPKVUTOUMOUKOP
_̀JQ_RUNPNVPwOKNMVUPxaxcPVJPNLOPIJKLMNOKNPNOJ]MURNOQPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP̀_JQ_RUNPNVPwOKNMVUPxaycPNLOPYZUOJPQLRSSP̀RXPNVPNLOP
IJKLMNOKNPNLOP[VSSVZMÛP[OOQ}
~�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������

l� fOJ]MURNMVUP�OO}

P�s�P

lm �MKOUQMÛP�OOcPM[PNLOPYZUOJPMUNOU\QPNVPKVUNMU_OP_QMÛPNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPnUQNJ_]OUNQPV[PwOJTMKO}

P�s�P

ijkl�PudKÒNPRQPVNLOJZMQOPOd̀JOQQSXP̀JVTM\O\PLOJOMUcPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNPQLRSSPNOJ]MURNOP
~���������������������������

 �j¡j�¢ YUOPXORJP[JV]PNLOP\RNOPV[PKV]]OUKO]OUNPV[PNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPQOJTMKOQ

 �jj�¢ YUOPXORJP[JV]PNLOP\RNOPV[Pw_WQNRUNMRSP£V]̀ SONMVU

 �jj�¢ YNLOJP
~¤������������������������������������������������������������¥���������������������������������������
������¥�����

PP

n[PNLOPYZUOJPRU\PIJKLMNOKNP\VPUVNPQOSOKNPRPNOJ]MURNMVUP\RNOcPNLMQPÎJOO]OUNPQLRSSPNOJ]MURNOPVUOPXORJP[JV]PNLOP\RNOPV[P
KV]]OUKO]OUNPV[PNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPQOJTMKOQa

ijkl¦PfLOPYZUOJeQPJM̂LNQPNVP_QOPNLOPIJKLMNOKNeQPnUQNJ_]OUNQPV[PwOJTMKOPMUPNLOPOTOUNPV[PRPNOJ]MURNMVUPV[PNLMQPÎJOO]OUNP
RJOPQONP[VJNLPMUPIJNMKSOPyPRU\PwOKNMVUPxa§a

89



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

IJKLMNOPQPPPMRSTOUVIKLRU
WPQXYZ[\]Ẑ_̀]aZb\cddZefgh]̀bci]Zi\]Zjae\ki]eiZcbZb]iZlfai\Zm]df_ZlfaZb]anke]bZo]beakm]oZk̀Zp]eikf̀ZqrqsZfaZk̀Zi\]Z
ciice\]oZ]t\kmkiZfaZbefh]Zofeug]̀iZk̀efahfaci]oZk̀ifZi\kbZjva]]g]̀iZk̀Zp]eikf̀Zwrxr
yz{|}~������{�������~���|�|���~������}{|����{��~��{�����}���}�}��������~�|���}������}{���{�����������}{|����{��|�
�~����}����~��

�kt]oZ�]]�

[cb�Ẑ ]̀�Z�ka]Zpicikf̀Z�afvacggk̀vZc̀oZ�a]dkgk̀ca�Z�]bkv̀�
�ke]Z�]avubZ�kdd]a� �x�sq��r��

[cb�Z[_f�Z�fbiZ�bikgcik̀vZc̀oZ uov]ik̀v�
�ke]Z�]avubZ�kdd]a� �qs¡x¢r��
�af�kgbZ£�fbiZ�bikgcifa¤� �¡s�¥¢r¡�ZtZqx¦Zgca�uhZ§ ��sẍwr¢q

[cb�Z[\a]]�Z�knkdZ�̀vk̀]]ak̀v�
�ke]Z�]avubZ�kdd]a� �qs¡x¢r��
�knkdZ�̀vk̀]]aZ£©kmmbZªẐdbf̀¤� �q�s���ZtZqx¦Zgca�uhZ§ �qqsx��r��

[ficd� �̈ws¡��r¢q

WPQX«PM¬®̄°±²³́¬°Pµ¬¶PJ̄ ́·̧¶±²·¹̄POº®̄°±̄±
WPQX«XYZ�]kgmuabcmd]Z�th]̀b]bZca]Zk̀Zcookikf̀ZifZefgh]̀bcikf̀Zb]iZlfai\Zk̀Zp]eikf̀Z�rqZc̀oZk̀eduo]Z]th]̀b]bZk̀euaa]oZ
m�Zi\]Zjae\ki]eiZc̀oZi\]Zjae\ki]ei»bZef̀budic̀ibZoka]eid�Za]dci]oZifZi\]Z�af¼]eisZcbZlfddf_b�

XY [ac̀bhfaicikf̀Zc̀oZcui\fak½]oZfui¾fl¾if_̀Ziacn]dZc̀oZbumbkbi]̀e]¿
X« Àf̀vZokbic̀e]Zb]anke]bsZo]okeci]oZocicZc̀oZefggùkecikf̀Zb]anke]bsZi]d]ef̀l]a]̀e]bsZ�af¼]eiZ_]mZbki]bsZ

c̀oZ]tiac̀]ib¿
XÁ �]agkiik̀vZc̀oZfi\]aZl]]bZa]Âuka]oZm�Zcui\fakik]bZ\cnk̀vZ¼uakbokeikf̀Zfn]aZi\]Z�af¼]ei¿
XÃ �ak̀ik̀vsZa]hafoueikf̀bsZhdfibsZc̀oZbic̀ocaoZlfagZofeug]̀ib¿
XÄ �fbicv]sZ\c̀odk̀vZc̀oZo]dkn]a�¿
XQ �th]̀b]ZflZfn]aikg]Z_fa�Za]Âukak̀vZ\kv\]aZi\c̀Za]vudcaZaci]bsZklZcui\fak½]oZk̀Zconc̀e]Zm�Zi\]Ẑ_̀]a¿
XÅ �]̀o]ak̀vbsZh\�bkecdZgfo]dbsZgfe�¾uhbsZhafl]bbkf̀cdZh\fifvach\�sZc̀oZha]b]̀icikf̀Zgci]akcdbZ

a]Âu]bi]oZm�Zi\]Ẑ_̀]aZfaZa]Âuka]oZlfaZi\]Z�af¼]ei¿
XÆ ÇlZa]Âuka]oZm�Zi\]Ẑ_̀]asZc̀oZ_ki\Zi\]Ẑ_̀]a»bZhakfaZ_akii]̀ZchhafncdsZi\]Zjae\ki]ei»bZef̀budic̀ib»Z

]th]̀b]bZflZhafl]bbkf̀cdZdkcmkdki�Zk̀buac̀e]Zo]okeci]oZ]tedubkn]d�ZifZi\kbZ�af¼]eisZfaZi\]Z]th]̀b]ZflZ
cookikf̀cdZk̀buac̀e]Zefn]acv]ZfaZdkgkibZk̀Z]te]bbZflZi\ciZ̀fagcdd�Zgck̀ick̀]oZm�Zi\]Zjae\ki]ei»bZ
ef̀budic̀ib¿

XÈ jddZict]bZd]nk]oZf̀Zhafl]bbkf̀cdZb]anke]bZc̀oZf̀Za]kgmuabcmd]Z]th]̀b]b¿
XYÉ pki]Zfllke]Z]th]̀b]b¿
XYY �]vkbiacikf̀Zl]]bZc̀oZc̀�Zfi\]aZl]]bZe\cav]oZm�Zi\]Z�]aikl�k̀vZjui\faki�ZfaZm�Zfi\]aZ]̀ikik]bZcbZ

]̀e]bbca�ZifZce\k]n]Zi\]Zpubick̀cmd]Ẑm¼]eikn]¿Zc̀o
XY« î\]aZbkgkdcaZ�af¼]ei¾a]dci]oZ]th]̀okiua]br

WPQX«X«Z�faZ�]kgmuabcmd]Z�th]̀b]bZi\]Zefgh]̀bcikf̀Zb\cddZm]Zi\]Z]th]̀b]bZk̀euaa]oZm�Zi\]Zjae\ki]eiZc̀oZi\]Z
jae\ki]ei»bZef̀budic̀ibZhdubZZi_]dn]ZZh]ae]̀iZ£ZqxZZZ¦¤ZflZi\]Z]th]̀b]bZk̀euaa]or

WPQX«XÁPI¶ÊË́³̄Ê³Ì±PL°±̧¶²°Ê̄XZÇlZi\]Zi�h]bZc̀oZdkgkibZflZefn]acv]Za]Âuka]oZk̀Zp]eikf̀Zqr�Zca]Zk̀Zcookikf̀ZifZi\]Zi�h]bZc̀oZ
dkgkibZi\]Zjae\ki]eiZ̀fagcdd�Zgck̀ick̀bsZi\]Ẑ_̀]aZb\cddZhc�Zi\]Zjae\ki]eiZlfaZi\]Zcookikf̀cdZefbibZk̀euaa]oZm�Zi\]Z
jae\ki]eiZlfaZi\]Zcookikf̀cdZefn]acv]bZcbZb]iZlfai\Zm]df_�
yz{|}~����}��������{�Í����}~�Î}|���}�Ï~����}����|�~}Ð��~}����������{��{��~�}~����|���|�Ñ���}�~}Ð��~}�}{�|�|}����~����{�
Ò}����{�Ó�Ô���{����~���������}�Õ�{}~�|��ÍÍ�~}����~|}���}�Ï~����}����

90



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

H

II

JKLMNKOPQRSTUVKUWKUXSKYZ[X\US[U
JKLMNM]K̂T\U\P_KOPQRSTUV
JKLMNM]M]ÌaIbabcbdeIfdghiacIjkIIlimjInjeedmoIIpqIrsrrIIItIoudeeIviIhdniIwfjaIixiywcbjaIjkIcuboÌzmiihiacIdanIboIcuiI
hbabhwhIfdghiacIwanimIcuboÌzmiihiacsI{cIoudeeIviIyminbcinIcjIcuiI|}aim~oIdyyjwacIbaIcuiIkbadeIba�jbyis

JKLMNM�KOZW�ZSVVKOPQRSTUV
JKLMNM�M]I�aeiooIjcuim}boiIdzmiin�IfdghiacoIkjmIoim�byioIoudeeIviIhdniIhjacuegIbaIfmjfjmcbjaIcjIoim�byioIfimkjmhinsI
�dghiacoIdmiInwiIdanIfdgdveiIwfjaIfmioiacdcbjaIjkIcuiÌmyubciyc~oIba�jbyisÌhjwacoIwafdbnIIIIpIIIItIndgoIdkcimIcuiI
ba�jbyiIndciIoudeeIvidmIbacimiocIdcIcuiImdciIiaciminIviej}�IjmIbaIcuiIdvoiayiIcuimijkIdcIcuiIeizdeImdciIfmi�dbebazIkmjhIcbhiI
cjIcbhiIdcIcuiIfmbaybfdeIfedyiIjkIvwobaiooIjkIcuiÌmyubciycs
��������������������������������������������������������

II�izdeIfmi�dbebazImdcis

JKLMNM�M�I�uiI|}aimIoudeeIajcI}bcuujenIdhjwacoIkmjhIcuiÌmyubciyc~oIyjhfiaodcbjaIcjIbhfjoiIdIfiadecgIjmIeb�wbndcinI
ndhdzioIjaIcuiÌmyubciyc�IjmIcjIjkkoicIowhoImi�wiocinIvgIjmIfdbnIcjIyjacmdycjmoIkjmIcuiIyjocIjkIyudazioIbaIcuiI�jm��I
waeiooIcuiÌmyubciycIdzmiioIjmIudoIviiaIkjwanIebdveiIkjmIcuiIdhjwacoIbaIdIvbanbazInbofwciImiojewcbjaIfmjyiinbazs

JKLMNM�MNI iyjmnoIjkI ibhvwmodveiI¡xfiaoioIdanIoim�byioIfimkjmhinIjaIcuiIvdoboIjkIujwmegImdcioIoudeeIviId�dbedveiIcjI
cuiI|}aimIdcIhwcwdeegIyja�iabiacIcbhios

Y¢£̂¤¥¦K§KKK̈ ©̂¤¦¥¥Yª¦«¬©KO¢«̂©̂«ª©
JK§M]I�uboÌzmiihiacIoudeeIviIzj�imainIvgIcuiIed}IjkIcuiIfedyiI}uimiIcuiI�mj®iycIboIejydcin�IixyewnbazIcudcI
®wmbonbycbja~oIyujbyiIjkIed}ImweiosI{kIcuiIfdmcbioIud�iIoieiycinIdmvbcmdcbjaIdoIcuiIhicujnIjkIvbanbazInbofwciImiojewcbja�IcuiI
īnimdeÌmvbcmdcbjaÌycIoudeeIzj�imaI°iycbjaI±s²s

JK§M�I¡xyifcIdoIoifdmdciegInikbainIuimiba�IcimhoIbaIcuboÌzmiihiacIoudeeIud�iIcuiIodhiIhidabazIdoIcujoiIbaÌ{̀I
³jywhiacÌ ŕµ¶·́rµ̧�I¹iaimdeIºjanbcbjaoIjkIcuiIºjacmdycIkjmIºjaocmwycbjas

JK§MNI�uiI|}aimIdanÌmyubciyc�Imiofiycb�ieg�IvbanIcuihoie�io�IcuibmIdziaco�Iowyyioojmo�Idoobzao�IdanIeizdeI
mifmioiacdcb�ioIcjIcuboÌzmiihiacsI»ibcuimIcuiI|}aimIajmIcuiÌmyubciycIoudeeIdoobzaIcuboÌzmiihiacI}bcujwcIcuiI}mbcciaI
yjaoiacIjkIcuiIjcuim�IixyifcIcudcIcuiI|}aimIhdgIdoobzaIcuboÌzmiihiacIcjIdIeianimIfmj�bnbazIkbadaybazIkjmIcuiI�mj®iycI
bkIcuiIeianimIdzmiioIcjIdoowhiIcuiI|}aim~oImbzucoIdanIjvebzdcbjaoIwanimIcuboÌzmiihiac�IbayewnbazIdagIfdghiacoInwiIcjI
cuiÌmyubciycIvgIcuiI|}aimIfmbjmIcjIcuiIdoobzahiacs

JK§M¼I�uiIfdmcbioIoudeeIdzmiiIwfjaIfmjcjyjeoIzj�imabazIcuiIcmdaohboobjaIdanIwoiIjkI{aocmwhiacoIjkI°im�byiIjmIdagIjcuimI
bakjmhdcbjaIjmInjywhiacdcbjaIbaInbzbcdeIkjmh

JK§M¼M]ÌagIwoiIjk�IjmImiebdayiIja�IdeeIjmIdIfjmcbjaIjkIdIvwbenbazIbakjmhdcbjaIhjnieI}bcujwcIdzmiihiacIcjIfmjcjyjeoI
zj�imabazIcuiIwoiIjk�IdanImiebdayiIja�IcuiIbakjmhdcbjaIyjacdbainIbaIcuiIhjnieIdanI}bcujwcIud�bazIcujoiIfmjcjyjeoIoicI
kjmcu�IoudeeIviIdcIcuiIwobazIjmImiegbazIfdmcg~oIojeiImbo�IdanI}bcujwcIebdvbebcgIcjIcuiIjcuimIfdmcgIdanIbcoIyjacmdycjmoIjmI
yjaowecdaco�IcuiIdwcujmoIjk�IjmIyjacmbvwcjmoIcj�IcuiIvwbenbazIbakjmhdcbjaIhjnie�IdanIidyuIjkIcuibmIdziacoIdanIihfejgiios

JK§M½K{kIcuiI|}aimImi�wiocoIcuiÌmyubciycIcjIixiywciIyimcbkbydcio�IcuiIfmjfjoinIedazwdziIjkIowyuIyimcbkbydcioIoudeeIviI
owvhbccinIcjIcuiÌmyubciycIkjmImi�bi}IdcIeidocIµ±IndgoIfmbjmIcjIcuiImi�wiocinIndcioIjkIixiywcbjasI{kIcuiI|}aimImi�wiocoI
cuiÌmyubciycIcjIixiywciIyjaoiacoImidojadvegImi�wbminIcjIkdybebcdciIdoobzahiacIcjIdIeianim�IcuiÌmyubciycIoudeeIixiywciI
deeIowyuIyjaoiacoIcudcIdmiIyjaobociacI}bcuIcuboÌzmiihiac�Ifmj�bninIcuiIfmjfjoinIyjaoiacIboIowvhbccinIcjIcuiÌmyubciycI
kjmImi�bi}IdcIeidocIµ±IndgoIfmbjmIcjIixiywcbjasI�uiÌmyubciycIoudeeIajcIviImi�wbminIcjIixiywciIyimcbkbydcioIjmIyjaoiacoI
cudcI}jwenImi�wbmiI�aj}einzi�Ioim�byio�IjmImiofjaobvbebcbioIvigjanIcuiIoyjfiIjkIcuboÌzmiihiacs

JK§MLI»jcubazIyjacdbainIbaIcuboÌzmiihiacIoudeeIymidciIdIyjacmdycwdeImiedcbjaoubfI}bcu�IjmIdIydwoiIjkIdycbjaIbaIkd�jmIjk�I
dIcubmnIfdmcgIdzdbaocIibcuimIcuiI|}aimIjmÌmyubciycs

91



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

HI

JKLMLKNOPQRRSTUVQWXYRQSWQZ[YWQ\SYOSUVYRS]̂WQQ_QOÙSUVQS]WaVYUQaUSRVbPPSVbcQSOTSWQRdTORYeYPYUfSgTWSUVQS\YRaTcQWf̀S
dWQRQOaQ̀SVbO\PYÔ S̀WQ_TcbPSTWS\YRdTRbPSTg̀STWSQhdTR[WQSTgSdQWRTORSUT̀SVbibW\T[RS_bUQWYbPRSTWSUThYaSR[eRUbOaQRSYOSbOfS
gTW_SbUSUVQSjWTkQaUSRYUQl

JKLMmSnVQS]WaVYUQaUSRVbPPSVbcQSUVQSWŶVUSUTSYOaP[\QSdVTUT̂WbdVYaSTWSbWUYRUYaSWQdWQRQOUbUYTORSTgSUVQS\QRŶOSTgSUVQSjWTkQaUS
b_TÔSUVQS]WaVYUQaUoRSdWT_TUYTObPSbO\SdWTgQRRYTObPS_bUQWYbPRlSnVQS]WaVYUQaUSRVbPPSeQŜYcQOSWQbRTObePQSbaaQRRSUTSUVQS
aT_dPQUQ\SjWTkQaUSUTS_bpQSR[aVSWQdWQRQOUbUYTORlSqTXQcQẀSUVQS]WaVYUQaUoRS_bUQWYbPRSRVbPPSOTUSYOaP[\QSUVQSrXOQWoRS
aTOgY\QOUYbPSTWSdWTdWYQUbWfSYOgTW_bUYTOSYgSUVQSrXOQWSVbRSdWQcYT[RPfSb\cYRQ\SUVQS]WaVYUQaUSYOSXWYUYÔSTgSUVQSRdQaYgYaS
YOgTW_bUYTOSaTORY\QWQ\SefSUVQSrXOQWSUTSeQSaTOgY\QOUYbPSTWSdWTdWYQUbWflSnVQSrXOQWSRVbPPSdWTcY\QSdWTgQRRYTObPSaWQ\YUSgTWS
UVQS]WaVYUQaUSYOSUVQSrXOQWoRSdWT_TUYTObPS_bUQWYbPRSgTWSUVQSjWTkQaUlsnVYRStQaUYTOSulvSRVbPPSR[WcYcQSUVQSUQW_YObUYTOSTgS
UVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUS[OPQRRSUVQSrXOQWSUQW_YObUQRSUVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUSgTWSab[RQSd[WR[bOUSUTStQaUYTOSwlxl

JKLMySzgSUVQS]WaVYUQaUSTWSrXOQWSWQaQYcQRSYOgTW_bUYTOSRdQaYgYabPPfS\QRŶObUQ\SbRS{aTOgY\QOUYbP{STWS{e[RYOQRRS
dWTdWYQUbWf̀{SUVQSWQaQYcYÔSdbWUfSRVbPPSpQQdSR[aVSYOgTW_bUYTOSRUWYaUPfSaTOgY\QOUYbPSbO\SRVbPPSOTUS\YRaPTRQSYUSUTSbOfSTUVQWS
dQWRTOSQhaQdUSbRSRQUSgTWUVSYOStQaUYTOSul|l}lSnVYRStQaUYTOSul|SRVbPPSR[WcYcQSUVQSUQW_YObUYTOSTgSUVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUl

JKLMyM~SnVQSWQaQYcYÔSdbWUfS_bfS\YRaPTRQS{aTOgY\QOUYbP{STWS{e[RYOQRRSdWTdWYQUbWf{SYOgTW_bUYTOSbgUQWSuS\bfRoSOTUYaQSUTS
UVQSTUVQWSdbWUf̀SXVQOSWQZ[YWQ\SefSPbX̀SbWeYUWbUTWoRSTW\QẀSTWSaT[WUSTW\QẀSYOaP[\YÔSbSR[edTQObSTWSTUVQWSgTW_STgS
aT_d[PRTWfSPQ̂bPSdWTaQRRSYRR[Q\SefSbSaT[WUSTWŜTcQWO_QOUbPSQOUYUf̀STWSUTSUVQSQhUQOUSR[aVSYOgTW_bUYTOSYRSWQbRTObePfS
OQaQRRbWfSgTWSUVQSWQaQYcYÔSdbWUfSUTS\QgQO\SYURQPgSYOSbOfS\YRd[UQlSnVQSWQaQYcYÔSdbWUfS_bfSbPRTS\YRaPTRQSR[aVS
YOgTW_bUYTOSUTSYURSQ_dPTfQQR̀SaTOR[PUbOUR̀STWSaTOUWbaUTWRSYOSTW\QWSUTSdQWgTW_SRQWcYaQRSTWSXTWpSRTPQPfSbO\SQhaP[RYcQPfS
gTWSUVQSjWTkQaÙSdWTcY\Q\SUVTRQSQ_dPTfQQR̀SaTOR[PUbOURSbO\SaTOUWbaUTWRSbWQSR[ekQaUSUTSUVQSWQRUWYaUYTORSTOSUVQS\YRaPTR[WQS
bO\S[RQSTgSR[aVSYOgTW_bUYTOSbRSRQUSgTWUVSYOSUVYRStQaUYTOSul|l

JKLM~�SnVQSYOcbPY\YUfSTgSbOfSdWTcYRYTOSTgSUVQS]̂WQQ_QOUSRVbPPSOTUSYOcbPY\bUQSUVQS]̂WQQ_QOUSTWSYURSWQ_bYOYÔS
dWTcYRYTORlSzgSYUSYRS\QUQW_YOQ\SUVbUSbOfSdWTcYRYTOSTgSUVQS]̂WQQ_QOUScYTPbUQRSbOfSPbX̀STWSYRSTUVQWXYRQSYOcbPY\STWS
[OQOgTWaQbePQ̀SUVQOSUVbUSdWTcYRYTOSRVbPPSeQSWQcYRQ\SUTSUVQSQhUQOUSOQaQRRbWfSUTS_bpQSUVbUSdWTcYRYTOSPQ̂bPSbO\S
QOgTWaQbePQlSzOSR[aVSabRQSUVQS]̂WQQ_QOUSRVbPPSeQSaTORUW[Q\̀SUTSUVQSg[PPQRUSQhUQOUSdQW_YUUQ\SefSPbX̀SUTŜYcQSQggQaUSUTSUVQS
dbWUYQRoSYOUQOUYTORSbO\Sd[WdTRQRSYOSQhQa[UYÔSUVQS]̂WQQ_QOUl

�������KmKKK�������K�����K���K����������
tdQaYbPSUQW_RSbO\SaTO\YUYTORSUVbUS_T\YgfSUVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUSbWQSbRSgTPPTXR�
��������s�����s�����s���s����������s����������s��s����s ¡�������¢£

¤YaQS¥QŴ[RS¦YPPQWoRSPYbeYPYUf̀SXVQUVQWSYOSUTWUSTWSYOSaTOUWbaÙSgTWSbOfSab[RQSTgSbaUYTOSRVbPPSeQSPY_YUQ\SbRSgTPPTXR§S̈b©SgTWS
YOR[WQ\SPYbeYPYUYQR̀SUTSUVQSb_T[OUSTgSYOR[WbOaQSUVQOSbcbYPbePQSUTSg[O\SbOfSRQUUPQ_QOÙSbXbW\STWScQW\YaU§S̈e©SgTWS[OYOR[WQ\S
PYbeYPYUYQR̀SUTSTOQSV[O\WQ\SdQWaQOUS̈}ªª«©STgSUVQSgQQSQbWOQ\SefS¤YaQS¥QŴ[RS¦YPPQWS[O\QWSUVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUlSS

�������KyKKK�����K�¬K��K�®�������
JKyM~SnVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUSWQdWQRQOURSUVQSQOUYWQSbO\SYOUQ̂WbUQ\Sb̂WQQ_QOUSeQUXQQOSUVQSrXOQWSbO\SUVQS]WaVYUQaUSbO\S
R[dQWRQ\QRSbPPSdWYTWSOQ̂TUYbUYTOR̀SWQdWQRQOUbUYTORSTWSb̂WQQ_QOUR̀SQYUVQWSXWYUUQOSTWSTWbPlSnVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUS_bfSeQS
b_QO\Q\STOPfSefSXWYUUQOSYORUW[_QOUSRŶOQ\SefSeTUVSUVQSrXOQWSbO\S]WaVYUQaUl

JKyM̄SnVYRS]̂WQQ_QOUSYRSaT_dWYRQ\STgSUVQSgTPPTXYÔS\Ta[_QOURSY\QOUYgYQ\SeQPTX�
M~ ]z]S°Ta[_QOUS±}ª²³ ²́ª}ùStUbO\bW\S¥TW_S]̂WQQ_QOUS±QUXQQOSrXOQWSbO\S]WaVYUQaU
M̄

¤¥¦SµPQaUWTOYaS°bUbS¤QPQbRQSSS

M¶ µhVYeYUR�
�·���̧s���s�����������s��¹sº��s��»s�¹������s������������s����s����s ¡�������¢£

¼�KK�½ ]z]S°Ta[_QOUSµ²ªx³ ²́ª}ùSt[RUbYObePQSjWTkQaURSµhVYeYÙS\bUQ\SbRSYO\YabUQ\SeQPTX�
�������s���s����s�ºs���s¾¿ÀÁÂ¿ÀÃÄs������������s����s����s ¡�������¢£

SS

92



�����

�

����	
��������������������
����������� ��!�� �"!�� #$!�� %�!�� %&!�� %$!�� "�!�� "&!�� ""!�� "�!�� ��!�� �#!�� ��!�� $�!��  �!������'�(��������))������*�
��*��+�(��,-��������'����*�������
.����������*!/�,�����'����*�������
.����������*!/�,���!/���������0
�
!�'�(�,�����
���'���	
�����*/�'�������*����(���'(�'�1*�
.�
-��������'����*�������
.����������*��-��*�(
������2'*���
(���(�'���&3&&3� �4-�
���$5�#5���&���(���6�(���7
�&��#�&$ $$�2������8����*�
����5�"5���#!��*��
��
.
����*')�!��*�)����*�(�.
��
��9�����*��
�)�!�'�(�'��
�)��:���*�(����'��
�('����2�������������
���'���	
�����*;�-��*�
.�<��+�����-
����
����
��������+�
)'��
�*!�
�9'�)�(
���.
='�'�
���'��*��
�
>?@ABCD�@?E� F "�$�$� "G

HH

I�JJ�K LMNOPQRSNTUTMVQTWXYPZYP[MO\QTWMYQMNTVQ]̂POO_OWM̀
abcdefcghijdklimghekghnlodfhdpoiqilrhiksnftnfeldjhiklnhloirhuvfddwdklxy

zYWV{|M[WMQ}PYZYV[|VQ

~� LMNOPQ\YX{_OWMV̀
a�irlhnlodfhjns�wdklr�hiksc�jikvhlodhufsoildsl�rhrsntdhnmhrdf�isdrhjns�wdkl�hodfdqghiksnftnfeldjhiklnh
lodhuvfddwdklxy

QQ

�NTVQ]̂POO_OWMQOWMOPO\QTWMYQ[VQY�QMNOQ\[�Q[W\Q�O[PQ�TPVMQ�PTMMOWQ[UY�O�

�� ��

�����Ja�ivkel�fdy ���������Ja�ivkel�fdy

QQQQ Q�{WW[PQ�|[\TXV�Q}PTWXTZ[|QQQ
a�fikldjhkewdhekjhlilcdy a�fikldjhkewd�hlilcd�hekjhcisdkrdhk�wqdf�himhfd��ifdjy

93



 

Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. 
275 Fifth Street, Suite 100 
Bremerton, WA 98337 
(360) 377-8773 
 

Electronic Data Information File Release Form  

 

Project Name:  Chehalis Fire District - Fire Station Planning 

Project Number: 2023065.00 

Issue Date:  August 24, 2023 
 
Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. (RFM) agrees to provide electronic information to Chehalis Fire 
Department(recipient) for Fire Station Planning (project), the electronic information identified as: 
Revit Model, AutoCAD and/or PDF files, subject to the following terms and conditions.  Possession 
of the electronic information is evidence of recipient’s acceptance of, and agreement with, these 
restrictions: 

 
1. Due to the potential that electronic information can be modified unintentionally or 

otherwise, RFM reserves the right to remove all indices of its ownership, name, and/or 
involvement from electronic information not in its possession. 
 

2. The use of this electronic information is restricted to the original site and project for which 
it was prepared.  The information is proprietary and is to be used only as an aid toward the 
successful completion of this project by the recipient person and/or company identified 
below.  RFM has provided the electronic information solely for your convenience.  This 
does not eliminate or reduce your responsibility to verify any and all information relevant 
to your work and responsibility on this project.  Recipient shall have 30 days from receipt 
of the electronic information to verify compatibility, readability and appropriateness for 
use: RFM shall not be responsible for translation errors and does not agree to maintain the 
electronic information beyond this time period, nor to translate or reconfigure the 
electronic information.  If errors or discrepancies are discovered, please notify our office 
in writing immediately.  Drawings shall not be interpreted to be true scale documents of 
the proposed work, nor shall they be utilized for fabrication unless written approval is first 
obtained by RFM.  If the electronic information is being altered as part of an effort to 
generate as-built or “shop” drawings, RFM accepts no liability and/or responsibility for the 
accuracy of such as-built or “shop” drawings. Material prepared from the electronic 
information shall not be used for other projects, or be transferred to any other party or 
entity for use on this or other projects.  Reuse or reproduction of the electronic 
information, data or documents prepared from, by or with this electronic information for 
any other purpose or party for which the material was not strictly intended, is prohibited, 
as RFM retains all copyright and other legal interest in the material.  In addition, all drawing 
information contained in the electronic information including, but not limited to, symbol 
libraries, blocks, details, etc. may not be reproduced, sold, distributed or utilized in any form 
on any other project or by anyone else. 

 

94



Rice Fergus Miller, Inc. 
Electronic Data Information File Release Form 
Page 2 
 
 

3. Recipient recognizes that information stored on electronic information, including, but not 
limited to, a computer disk prepared by RFM, may not be 100% compatible with their own 
computer system due to differences in computer hardware and software, or may be subject 
to translation errors.  In addition, recipient recognizes that designs, plans and data stored 
on electronic information, including but not limited to a computer disk, may be subject to 
undetectable alteration and/or uncontrollable deterioration.  If, for any reason, a conflict 
occurs between information contained in the electronic information and stamped, signed 
documents, the information on signed or stamped documents shall govern. 

 
4. In light of the foregoing, the recipient recognizes and acknowledges that the use of such 

electronic information will be at their sole risk and without any liability or legal exposure 
to RFM.  No warranties of any nature, whether express or implied, shall attach to the 
electronic information or the information contained thereon.  Furthermore, recipient 
hereby releases and shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless RFM from any and all claims, damages, losses and expenses (“Claims”) 
including attorney’s fees arising out, or resulting from the use of such electronic 
information, including, but not limited to, Claims involving the completeness or accuracy 
of any data or information contained therein. 
 

5. Notwithstanding RFM’s agreement to provide electronic information pursuant to this 
Agreement, nothing shall be construed to create contractual privity or benefit between 
recipient and RFM except as is necessary for RFM to enforce these express, limited terms 
and conditions. 
 

6. Use of any information or data in the accompanying electronic information signifies your 
acceptance of the above statements without exceptions and/or modifications. 
 

7. Recipient acknowledges and represents that he/she is executing this Agreement after 
having received full legal advice, and hereby warrants that he/she has the right and 
authority to execute the Agreement. 
 

8. This Agreement incorporates and supersedes any and all prior understandings, contains 
the entire agreement between the Parties, and shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the representatives, successors and assigns of each. 
 
Please sign this form and return a copy to our office. 
   
 
 
Date:            
     Recipient 
 
            
     Print name in full 
 
            
     Company 

95



96



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Lance Bunker, Public Works Director 
Celest Wilder, Capital Improvement Project Manager 

MEETING OF: February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT: Consultant Services for Development of a Localized Flood Strategy and 
Investment Plan (LFSIP) for the City of Chehalis and Port of Chehalis 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this agenda report is to provide the City Council with a recommended consultant 
to assist both the City and the Port of Chehalis in the development of a Localized Flood Strategy 
and Investment Plan (LFSIP) which considers areas of the City and the Port that are connected by 
streams and rivers in the basin. This would be a project fully funded by a grant from the 
Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) of the State of Washington.  

In the past, these areas have been independently studied by both the City and Port. Due to 
geographic confines, no measurable flood reduction effort can be achieved within each of these 
areas individually.  

The City of Chehalis and Port of Chehalis have mutual interest in developing a long-term action 
plan with sequenced projects recommended to strategically increase local flood resilience and 
decrease flood elevations within the geographic areas detailed below. The localized plan will 
specifically target the area of the City south of the Airport, to include the old Wastewater 
Treatment Plant, the Port of Chehalis, and the riverine areas that connect the two. The plan will 
also consider downstream impacts of all projects within the targeted area.  

97



 
PROJECT HISTORY 2016-2021 
 
In 2016, the City received a grant through the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) to 
demolish the old Wastewater Treatment Plant. Over time, the derelict structures at the 
decommissioned treatment plant have become dilapidated and the grounds have become 
overgrown with vegetation. The expectation is that removal of the old Wastewater Treatment 
Plant would create more space for flood water storage.  
 
The initial plan was to take a phased approach. Removal of existing hardscapes, over excavation 
of filled soils placed when the plant was originally constructed, re-establishing enhanced fish and 
wildlife habitat, and conversion to park property with interpretive trails were planned.  
 
During preliminary planning of this project, the Engineering firm retained was tasked with 
determining if excavation of more than 100,000 cubic yards of soil would reduce the flood stage 
in the area. The analysis performed would result in a 0.01-foot (about 3/16 inch) reduction in the 
100 year flood surface water elevation for about ½ mile upstream. Lesser reductions were found 
downstream of the project site. Analysis also found that the project would cause a 0.02-foot rise 
in water surface elevation at the project site. This exceeds the 0.00-foot rise allowed under the 
City’s zero-rise ordinance and FEMA’s no rise criteria for projects constructed within the 
Regulatory Floodway.  
 
In 2017, It was suggested to refine the project design to assist with maximizing the flood benefit 
of planned excavation. Model simulations showed that most of the proposed flood storage would 
fill with water before the peak of the flood event, limiting the effectiveness of the project.  
 
In 2019, funding was received to determine feasibility and anticipated benefit of developing a 
flood storage master plan by building on and refining earlier planning and analysis conducted 
under previous RCO agreements alternative excavation extents and depths were analyzed. 
Through the development of various schematic plan options, it was discovered that full 
compliance with zero rise policies could not be met within the current scope and geographic 
constraints.  
 
In preliminary design phases, it was discovered that regardless of geographic project 
configuration, there was no opportunity to be in complete compliance with municipal zero rise 
policies. While some configurations demonstrated the 100-year flood elevation was decreased, 
that same design would increase the levels of the 25-year and 40-year flood elevations. 
Conversely, designs demonstrating a reduction in the 25-year and 40-year flood elevations 
demonstrated an increase in the 100-year flood level.  
 
In 2021, the Port of Chehalis received a grant from the Recreation and Conservation Office, to 
develop a hydraulic model for the Chehalis Industrial Park. This project was implemented for the 
purpose of determining downstream impacts of conceptualized Industrial Park flood conveyance 
improvement projects via both the Dilly Twig and Dillenbaugh creeks. The conclusion of hydraulic 
modeling results provided very limited effective results and no reasonable cost 
recommendations. While recommendations provided for the Port project may help flooding 
issues in the industrial area, they would not resolve flooding problems downstream and would 

98



potentially increase downstream flood water delivery potentially worsening flooding in the area 
of the old Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
 
PLAN TO CONTINE AS A JOINT PROJECT WITH PORT 
 
Due to these unforeseen complications, these projects were unable to move to the point of public 
participation.  At this point steps were taken with the Flood Authority, the Recreation and 
Conservation Office, the Port of Chehalis, and the City of Chehalis to implement a combined, 
mutually beneficial effort in developing a flood reduction investment plan to involve a wider area 
of floodplain so that a wider area will benefit, and a broader approach can be taken. Previously, 
projects in the City and the Port have been studied separately, however, they are still 
hydraulically connected. Water draining from the Port area directly affects downstream drainage 
in the City. In a mutually beneficial effort for both the City and Port, unspent previously awarded 
grant monies were combined, and a new grant agreement was drafted where the City would act 
as lead agency in a combined effort to develop an investment plan where individual study areas 
can be combined and studied as one.  
 
REQUEST FOR CONSULTANT PROPOSALS 
 
The City requested proposals from qualified firms to create an engagement strategy that will 
articulate shared community goals, convey an integrated visions and develop sequenced 
investment priorities to reduce flood impacts, reduce flood and erosions risk, enhance fish and 
wildlife habitat throughout the reach while promoting multiple community values and engaging 
with other comprehensive planning processes, to ensure a coordinated and synchronized 
outcome.  
 
The City initially published a request for proposals from consultants with response due 
September 27, 2023. Due to low response, the RFP was sent out again using a targeted approach, 
with responses due January 12, 2024. One response was received from the initial publication, 
one targeted request declined due to existing client workload, and the remaining targeted 
requests did not respond. A panel interview was scheduled with the original responder. The panel 
concluded to recommend that City Council select SLR International to proceed with the project. 
The interview panel consisted of City of Chehalis staff, Port of Chehalis Staff, and Flood Authority 
members. 
 
SLR International is a full-service environmental engineering firm founded in Washington State 
in 2000. For this project, they will partner with Watershed Science and Engineering, hydrology, 
hydraulics and geomorphology specialists who have conducted several studies and analyses in 
the Chehalis basin on other projects. 
 
PROPOSED SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The following is a scope of work to be performed by SLR and its team members, in connection 
with development of the Localized Flood Strategy and Investment Plan (LFSIP) for the City of 
Chehalis and the Port of Chehalis. 
 
Major tasks to be accomplished in preparing this plan are: 

99



1. Project Management
2. Data Collection and Assessments
3. Landowner and Community Engagement
4. Hydrology and Hydraulics
5. Final Localized Flood Strategy and Investment Plan (LFSIP)

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project is funded in whole by a grant from the Recreation and Conservation Office and will 
have no fiscal impact to the City. 

Consultant fees computed as follows: 
SLR Labor  $211,755.00 
Subconsultant Labor    $98,980.00 
Other Expenses      $4,900.00 
Contingency    $26,205.00 
Total $341,840.00 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that City Council award the contract for development of the Localized Flood 
Strategy and Investment Plan (LFSIP) for the City of Chehalis and the Port of Chehalis to SLR 
International with a total not to exceed budget of $341,840 and authorize the City Manager to 
execute all contract related documents, including change orders. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that City Council award the contract for development of the Localized Flood Strategy and 
Investment Plan (FSIP) for the City of Chehalis and the Port of Chehalis to SLR International with 
a total not to exceed budget of $341, 840 and authorize the City Manager to execute the project 
related documents, including change orders.  

100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Justin Phelps, Wastewater Superintendent 

MEETING OF:  February 26, 2024 

SUBJECT: Wastewater Equalization Basin Intertie Project – Update and Request to 
Proceed 

ISSUE 

The Equalization Basin Intertie Project has been endorsed within the Capital Improvement 
Program, designated to receive funding from the Wastewater’s Capital Fund Budget (414). 
Initially, $250,000 was earmarked for the project, based on the original cost estimate of 
$151,075 in May 2022. However, the current estimate is $424,144. Prior to initiating the formal 
bidding process, the City Council is being asked to confirm its support prior to advancing the 
project to prevent any unnecessary expenditure of time and resources without your approval. 

DISCUSSION 

The City Council is being asked to confirm its support for before proceeding with the bidding 
process for the Equalization Basin Intertie Project. This project holds significant importance for 
the city's infrastructure and the maintenance of our wastewater treatment system. 

The Equalization Basin Intertie Project aims to address critical issues within our wastewater 
treatment system, specifically targeting the limitation of treatment violations. These violations 
not only pose environmental risks but also carry legal ramifications for our city. By 
implementing this project, we can effectively mitigate the number of violations and ensure 
compliance with regulatory standards, safeguarding both public health and the environment. 

Typically, such proposals would undergo review and discussion within the budget committee. 
However, due to the pressing time constraints associated with equipment lead times and the 
urgency of completing this project in a timely manner, an expedited approach is deemed 
necessary. 

It is crucial to note that the cost estimation for this project has evolved since its inception. 
Initially estimated at $151,075 in May 2022, the current estimation stands at $424,144. While 

155



$250,000 was allocated in this year's budget for the project, the remainder of the funds will 
need to be reallocated from the I & I (Infiltration and Inflow) rehabilitation project. 

Given the importance and urgency of this matter, I respectfully request the council's approval 
to proceed with the bidding process for the Equalization Basin Intertie Project. Your support will 
enable us to expedite the necessary actions to safeguard our city's wastewater treatment 
infrastructure and ensure compliance with regulatory standards. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The project had an initial allocation of $250,000 in this year’s budget, the remainder of the 
funds will need to be reallocated from the I & I (Infiltration and Inflow) rehabilitation projects, 
which are also funded by Wastewater resources.  No additional dollars will be needed from the 
Wastewater Fund.  If the project advances, a budget amendment will be needed to reflect the 
proposed changes and the construction contract will be presented for City Council approval at 
the conclusion of the bidding process.  

RECOMMENDATION/ 

I recommend that the City Council approve proceeding with the bidding process for the 
Equalization Basin Intertie Project. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move the City Council to approve the Equalization Basin Intertie Project to go out to formal 
bid. 

156


	5.       Special Meeting Minutes 1-18-24
	6.         City Council Meeting Minutes 2-12-24
	7.         2-15-2024 Vouchers Accts Payable - Agenda Report _
	8.         ILA Anti-Icing-- KM Edits - Final
	8a.        Resolution 02-2024, Thurston County ILA
	8b.      ILA Thurston County
	9.        Agenda Report 02-26-2024 On Call Engineering Services Contract Award
	ISSUE
	The work will be completed on an as needed basis. The current fee schedule is located on the proposed contract with APG.
	RECOMMENDATION
	SUGGESTED MOTION

	9a.          Professional Service Agreement for On Call Engineering Services 2024
	SECTION 1 -  SERVICES OF APG
	A. Basic Services
	B. Schedule
	C. Authorization to Proceed
	D. Delay
	E. Changes/Additional Services

	SECTION 2 -  TERMS OF PAYMENT
	A. Invoicing
	B. Progress Payments

	SECTION 3 -  Obligations of SPONSOR
	A. Furnish Data
	B. Representative
	C. Timely Review
	D. Prompt Notice
	E. Site Access

	SECTION 4 -   OBLIGATIONS OF APG
	A. Independent Contractor
	B. Performance
	C. Technical Accuracy
	D. Publicity
	E. Insurance
	F. Compliance with Laws
	G. No responsibility for Site Safety
	H. No responsibility for Contractor Performance
	I. Equal Opportunity Employment

	SECTION 5 -  GENERAL considerations
	A. Reuse of Documents
	1. All documents are instruments of service in respect to this Project, are fully owned by the City. Sponsor may make and retain copies for information and reference in connection with the use and occupancy of the Project.  Such documents are not inte...
	2. Copies of documents that may be relied upon by Sponsor are limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies) that are signed or sealed by APG.  Files in electronic media format are furnished for convenience.
	3. Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified, inadvertently or otherwise, without authorization of APG, the party receiving the electronic files agrees to perform acceptance tests or procedures within 60 days, after...
	4. APG makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from use of software application packages, operating system, or computer hardware differing form those used by APG at the beginning of this...

	B. Indemnification
	1. To the fullest extent permitted by law, APG agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Sponsor from and against any liability, damages and costs, (including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of defense) arising out of the death or bodily injury to an...
	2. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Sponsor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless APG from any liability, damages and costs, (including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of defense) to the extent caused by the negligent acts, errors, and omi...
	3. To the fullest extent permitted by law, APG’s total liability to Sponsor and anyone claiming by, through or under Sponsor for any claim, cost, loss or damage caused in part by the negligence of APG and in part by Sponsor or any other negligent enti...

	C. Termination / Suspension
	1. Sponsor may terminate this Agreement for convenience.  In such event, APG will be entitled to compensation for Services performed up to the date of termination, including profit related thereto, plus any expenses of termination.
	2. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may be suspended by either party upon 7 days written notice or terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to...

	D. Consequential Damages / Limitation of Liability
	E. Limits of Agreement
	F. Severability and Survival
	G. Waiver
	H. Choice of Law and Venue
	I. Material Adverse Effect
	J. No Third Party Beneficiaries
	K. Successor, Assigns, and Beneficiaries
	L. Prevailing Party Litigation Costs
	M. Statutes of Limitation
	N. Authority
	O. Quality Control Plan
	P.  Engineer’s Design Report and Final Report

	TASK ORDER (format only)

	10.         2023 YE Fund Balance Designation - Agenda Report
	10a.      2022 Year End Fund Balance Designation  - Attach ORD 1090-B
	ORDINANCE NO. 1090-B
	AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, establishing fund balance designation as provided by Washington state auditor’s bars manual for cash basis entity for year end 2023.
	City Clerk
	City Attorney

	11.      02-26-24 Treatment Court Proposal
	12.       CCA Retail 5th Amendment 2024- Agenda Report
	Premises Site Plan for CCA Retail (Tract 19)

	12a.        Draft Fifth Amendment_CCA February 21 2024
	CCA RETAIL, LLC.     CITY OF CHEHALIS

	13.      02-26-24 Ag Rpt 2 Rev by JA Fire Station Eng-Arch Services Station Planning
	RECOMMENDATION
	SUGGESTED MOTION

	13a.         RFM_RFP_Chehalis Fire 2-13-2024
	13b.      230824_B102-2017 -Chehalis FD - Fire Station Planning
	14.         Agenda Report - Consultant Services for Floodplain Stratey and Investment plan for the City of Chehalis and the Port of Chehalis - FINAL CW 2-23-24
	14a.        Contract - Flood Strategy and Investment Plan
	15.      02-26-24 EQ Intertie Project - Agenda Report
	RECOMMENDATION/
	SUGGESTED MOTION

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	ADP65CB.tmp
	PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                           CONSENT CALENDAR
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                           PUBLIC HEARINGS
	PAGE
	CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT)
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                NEW BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                    ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  
	PAGE

	Blank Page
	Blank Page



